
1

Notice of a meeting of
Cabinet

Tuesday, 6 March 2018
6.00 pm

Pittville Room - Municipal Offices

Membership
Councillors: Steve Jordan, Flo Clucas, Chris Coleman, Rowena Hay, Peter Jeffries, 

Andrew McKinlay and Roger Whyborn

Agenda 
SECTION 1 : PROCEDURAL MATTERS

1. APOLOGIES

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
Minutes of the meeting held on 13 February 2018

(Pages 
3 - 12)

4. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS
These must be received no later than 12 noon on the fourth 
working day before the date of the meeting

SECTION 2 :THE COUNCIL 
There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by the Council 
on this occasion

SECTION 3 : OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on this occasion

SECTION 4 : OTHER COMMITTEES 
There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by other 
Committees on this occasion

SECTION 5 : REPORTS FROM CABINET MEMBERS 
AND/OR OFFICERS

5. REVIEW OF TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING 
POLICY
Report of the Cabinet Member Development and Safety

(Pages 
13 - 
426)

SECTION 6 : BRIEFING SESSION 



2

 Leader and Cabinet Members

6. BRIEFING FROM CABINET MEMBERS

SECTION 7 : DECISIONS OF CABINET MEMBERS 
Member decisions taken since the last Cabinet meeting

SECTION 8 : ANY OTHER ITEM(S) THAT THE LEADER 
DETERMINES TO BE URGENT AND REQUIRES A 
DECISION

Contact Officer:  Rosalind Reeves, Democratic Services Manager, 01242 774937
Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk

mailto:democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk


- 1 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on. Tuesday, 6 March 2018

Cabinet

Tuesday, 13th February, 2018
6.05  - 6.55 pm

Attendees
Councillors: Steve Jordan (Leader of the Council), Flo Clucas (Cabinet 

Member Healthy Lifestyles), Chris Coleman (Cabinet Member 
Clean and Green Environment), Rowena Hay (Cabinet Member 
Finance), Peter Jeffries (Cabinet Member Housing), 
Andrew McKinlay (Cabinet Member Development and Safety) 
and Roger Whyborn (Cabinet Member Corporate Services)

Also in attendance: Councillor Matt Babbage and Councillor Bernard Fisher

Minutes

1. APOLOGIES
None.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest. 

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 and 12 December 2017 were signed and 
approved as a correct record.

4. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS
There were none.

5. DISCRETIONARY HOUSING PAYMENTS POLICY
The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the report. She explained that the 
council has powers to award Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) to provide 
additional financial assistance towards housing costs where claimants are in 
receipt of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, provided housing costs are 
included. The report proposed an updated policy to include the council’s 
responsibilities in respect of Universal Credit claimants and ensure that 
consistent decisions are made. Funding would be provided by the Department 
for Work and Pensions.

The Cabinet Member Development and Safety gave their support to the 
proposals. They considered that the introduction of Universal Credit would have 
an adverse impact on those most in need and the recommendations in this 
report would allow the council to respond more flexibly to the additional 
demands created.

Page 3
Agenda Item 3



- 2 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

RESOLVED THAT

1. the Discretionary Housing Payment Policy in Appendix 2 be 
approved.

2. decisions relating to the award of DHP in line with the policy and 
DWP guidance, be delegated to the Head of Revenues and Benefits, 
with the final decision in the event of dispute being taken by the 
Chief Finance Officer.

3. the Chief Finance Officer be authorised to apply to DCLG for an 
accounting direction if it appears that the annual allocation will be 
exceeded in any financial year

6. DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATES RELIEFS
The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the report which explained that at the 
Spring Budget 2017, the Government had announced three separate relief 
schemes to help business ratepayers facing large increases in bills as a result 
of the 2017 revaluation of business premises. The three schemes were 
Supporting Small Businesses, Relief for Pubs and the Local Revaluation 
Support Scheme and the report set out details of each. Approval was now 
being sought to award these reliefs using discretionary powers introduced by 
the Localism Act. The first two reliefs were to be awarded in accordance with 
the Government set criteria and would be fully funded and the proposed criteria 
for the Local Revaluation Support Scheme were detailed in appendix 2.

The Leader commented that the take up to date had been a challenge so he 
appreciated the efforts that were now being made by the council to ensure 
small businesses can benefit from the scheme.

RESOLVED THAT

1. a change to the amount of local discretionary revaluation support 
scheme for 2017/18 as set out in section 2.3 of this report and appendix 
2

2. the local discretionary revaluation support scheme for 2018/19 be 
approved in accordance with section 3 of this report and appendix 2

3. the extension of the relief scheme for pubs in 2018/19 be approved to be 
awarded in accordance with the detailed guidance in appendix 3

4. the Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme in 2018/19 be approved 
to be awarded in line with the detailed guidance in appendix 3

5. the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
Finance, be authorised to set the percentage relief level for local 
revaluation support in 2018/19 as detailed in section 3.4 of this report.

6. due to the volume of cases, decisions relating to the application of these 
reliefs be delegated to the Head of Revenues and Benefits and officers 
in the Business Rates team. In the case of a dispute a reconsideration is 

Page 4



- 3 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

to be made by the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member Finance.

7. EVENTS PROGRAMME
The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the report which considered the 
options around delivery of a future collaborative events programme for 
Cheltenham.  In this context it took lessons learnt from the 9th September 2017 
Cheltenham Festival of Cycling both in terms of costs related to the delivery a of 
major event, importance of partnership working and funding, impact on officer 
resources together with whether further activities under the Cheltenham Festival 
of Cycling banner should be supported.

The report set out four options to deliver a joined-up events programme for all 
stakeholders, with a budget to extend the town’s event offer within the context 
of delivery of the council’s 5 year strategy to grow the visitor economy. The 
report sought agreement to the budgetary implications and commitment for 
delivery of a community based cycling event in 2018 and a one off allocation of 
up to £150,000 to deliver a major cycling event in 2019.  If the 
recommendations were agreed today then officers would bring back a business 
case for the latter in a future report to Cabinet. 

She  concluded by expressing her thanks to all the individuals  who had 
contributed to making the Cheltenham Festival of Cycling such a successful 
event. 

Members were supportive of the recommendations. They felt that the Festival of 
Cycling had been very well supported despite the weather and could be even 
more successful in the future. It was recognised that the resource requirement 
would be too high to put on such a high profile event every year therefore it was 
important to build in extra capacity which the additional budget would facilitate.

RESOLVED

1. that the preparation of an events programme to support the 
delivery of the Council’s 5 year strategy to grow the visitor 
economy that promotes Cheltenham as a world class destination 
be agreed.

2. that a budget of £50,000 per annum be built into the base budget to 
support the delivery of a collaborative Cheltenham events 
programme which facilitates a mixture of high profile and 
community led activities and events.

3. to commit to delivery of a community based cycling event in 2018 
and agree to seek to deliver a high profile cycling event in 2019 
within the context of an events programme.  Officers to bring back 
to Cabinet a business case for 2019 one off funding in due course.

4. that the most effective means of the future delivery of the 
marketing and events programme be investigated and that a further 
report be brought back to Cabinet accordingly.

Page 5



- 4 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

8. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2018/19
The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the report which had been circulated 
with the agenda. She explained that the council under the CIPFA code must 
report annually on its treasury management strategy statement and its 
prudential indicators and the report incorporated the annual investment strategy 
which is also a requirement prior to the start of a new financial year. 

The Treasury Management Panel (TMP) had recommended that Cabinet 
approve this report and forward it to Council. 

She drew Members’ attention to the revisions made to the lending and 
parameter list on page 86 appendix 2.
   
Since the budget monitoring report in December the investment income had 
improved for 17/18 and was currently showing as a likely surplus of £34,800 
above the budget and this figure was largely due to investing in the CCLA 
property fund.

She gave thanks to council officers and advisors for their achievements.

RESOLVED THAT

Council be recommended to approve the attached Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19 at Appendix 
2, Lending list at Appendix 2, Table 2 page 6 and MRP policy statement for 
2018/19 at Appendix D be approved, including :

 The general policy objective ‘that Council should invest prudently 
the surplus funds held on behalf of the community giving priority 
to security and liquidity’.

 That the Prudential Indicators for 2018/19 including the authorised 
limit as the statutory affordable borrowing limit determined under 
Section 3 (1) Local Government Act 2003 be approved.

 Revisions to the Council’s lending list and parameters as shown in 
Appendix 2, Table 2 page 6 are proposed in order to provide some 
further capacity. These proposals have been put forward after 
taking advice from the Council’s treasury management advisers 
Arlingclose Limited and are prudent enough to ensure the credit 
quality of the Council’s investment portfolio remains high. 

9. BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2017/18 - POSITION AS AT DECEMBER 
2017
The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the third financial monitoring report 
giving the position statement for the financial year 2017/18. The purpose of the 
report was to notify members of any known significant variations to budgets for 
2017/18 and highlight any key issues.  

Page 6



- 5 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

She concluded that the net effect on the general fund of the variances reported 
was that the outturn position was expected to be delivered within budget and 
she asked Cabinet to support the recommendations as set out in the report.

RESOLVED THAT

the contents of this report including the key projected variances to the 
2017/18 budget and the expected delivery of services within budget be 
noted. 

Council approve the budget virements to the 2017/18 budget, as part of 
the revised budget 2017/18, as detailed in Appendix 6.

10. FINAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS 
2018/19 (INCLUDING SECTION 25)
The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the report which summarised the 
revised budget for 2017/18 and the Cabinet’s final budget proposals and pay 
policy statement for 2018/19. She reminded Members of her introductory 
statement last year when she predicted that there were extremely difficult 
financial times ahead, and with further cuts to government funding the net result 
of this was that the budget process for 2018/19 would be even tougher and 
would make it very difficult to avoid making cuts. Staff were to be congratulated 
that cuts to services had been avoided. 

Despite huge year on year financial cuts and future financial uncertainty whilst 
the government determined how and where local authority funding would come 
from and how it will be divided, the ability for local authorities to generate a 
sustainable independent revenue income was a journey that the council was 
already on.

The Cabinet Member highlighted some of the very positive steps that the 
council had taken over the last year that not only maintained existing services 
but also looked to improve, enhance and invest in Cheltenham for the benefit of 
its residents and businesses.

This administration had seen herself and other Cabinet Members bring forward 
a number of reports for approval aimed at ensuring the council looked at many 
different and diverse ways and means to protect what makes Cheltenham a 
great place to live and work. This had included the introduction of a commercial 
strategy, investment in cultural services, using diverse and new Treasury 
instruments taking a more risk aware approach, property investment had seen 
small increases in income, the pension advance lump sum payment that would 
net the authority £400K over two years, a new extended kerbside recycling 
service, investment in the new build crematorium,  a successful bid to join the 
business rates pilot and the launch of marketing Cheltenham alongside hosting 
a successful new festival of cycling event. 

She concluded that it was a budget that the Cabinet could be rightly pleased to 
recommend to Council and asked for their support to approve the 
recommendations as set out in the report. She expressed her sincere thanks to 
all of the finance team, in particular Paul Jones and Sarah Didcote, for their 
enormous amount of hard work in supporting the process. This was endorsed 
by the Leader. 

Page 7



- 6 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

The Leader commended the excellent financial control which the report 
demonstrated by officers across the council. He considered that it was a very 
positive budget which demonstrated the efforts being made to protect and 
enhance services and the decision to increase council tax was appropriate in 
the circumstances. 

RESOLVED THAT it be recommended to Council to:

1. Approve the revised budget for 2017/18.

2. Consider the budget assessment by the Section 151 Officer at 
Appendix 2 in agreeing the following recommendations.

3. Approve the final budget proposals including a proposed council 
tax for the services provided by Cheltenham Borough Council of 
£203.01 for the year 2018/19 (an increase of 2.99% or £5.89 a year 
for a Band D property), as detailed in paragraphs 4.26 to 4.30.

4. Approve the growth proposals, including one off initiatives at 
Appendix 4.

5. Approve the savings / additional income totalling £716,500 and the 
budget strategy at Appendix 5.

6. Approve the use of reserves and general balances and note the 
projected level of reserves, as detailed at Appendix 6.

7. Note that Gloucestershire was successful in becoming a 100% 
Business Rate Retention pilot in 2018/19 and propose that the 
additional revenue generated be earmarked for economic growth 
initiatives specific to Cheltenham (paragraphs 4.19 to 4.20).

8. Approve the extension of grants to Cheltenham Performing Arts 
(£20,000) and the Holst Birthplace Trust (£7,500) for a further 3 
years, as detailed in paragraph 5.12.

9. Approve the deferral of the 2017/18 Cheltenham Trust management 
fee saving to 2019/20 and 2021/22 and provide for a contingency 
within the working balance of £150,000 for the Trust to drawdown 
(paragraphs 5.13 to 5.18).

10. Approve the Pay Policy Statement for 2018/19, including the 
continued payment of a living wage supplement at Appendix 9.

11. Approve a level of supplementary estimate of £100,000 for 2018/19 
as outlined in Section 13.

11. FINAL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET PROPOSALS 
2018/19

Page 8



- 7 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

The Cabinet Member Finance introduced the report which summarised the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revised forecast for 2017/18 and the 
Cabinet’s budget proposals for 2018/19.

She highlighted some of the achievements on CBH and CBC. These included 
over three and a half million of spending on repairs and maintenance, and  
nearly eight million on property improvements and major works, one and a half 
million on new build and acquisitions, and the continuing spending on benefits 
advice, employment initiatives and services for older and disabled people. 

She concluded that the council should be proud of what had been achieved 
despite the squeeze on finances which the Government had introduced on rent 
reduction, however none of this could be achieved without a dedicated hard 
working committed team of staff across the organisation and she invited her 
Cabinet colleagues to join her in thanking them..

The Cabinet Member Housing supported the recommendations and gave a 
special thanks to all the staff at CBH for their excellent work. 

RESOLVED THAT it be recommended to Council that

1. the revised HRA forecast for 2017/18 be noted.

2. the HRA budget proposals for 2018/19 (shown at Appendix 2) 
including a proposed rent decrease of 1% and changes to other 
rents and charges as detailed within the report be approved.

3. the proposed HRA capital programme for 2018/19 as shown at 
Appendices 3 and 4 be approved

4. authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer, in consultation
with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to apply for a direction from 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government to 
permit Discretionary Housing Payments to Council Tenants to be 
funded from the HRA if it appears probable that the annual 
Government allocation for the year will be exceeded (see 
paragraph 6.6 of the report).

12. BRIEFING FROM CABINET MEMBERS
The Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles was pleased to report that building work 
had now started at Leisure@ and this would provide a terrific resource for 
families in Cheltenham once the work was completed. 
She advised that she had attended a meeting of the Community Partnership 
with the Leader and this had provided an opportunity to get some valuable 
feedback on the Place Strategy. 
She informed Cabinet that an event would take place in Cheltenham on 10 
March 2018 to mark International Women’s Day and an impressive range of 
speakers had been organised to help celebrate the role of women in 
Cheltenham. 
A variety of events were being organised to commemorate the centenary of 
Armistice Day in November 2018.

Page 9



- 8 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

The Cabinet Member Development and Safety advised that the Gloucestershire 
Constabulary had successfully applied for an injunction against drug gangs in 
Gloucester who were also having an impact in Cheltenham.  A press statement 
would be going out tomorrow.
He had met with the Police and Crime Commissioner to  approve funding from 
the late night levy to support three initiatives; street pastors, 300 drug testing 
kits for licensed premises and a grant to support student community controls to 
improve safety at the University.

The Cabinet Member Corporate Services advised that there were a number of 
projects in hand to improve the efficiency of back office services. 
He advised that he would be taking a briefing note to overview and scrutiny 
regarding the sound system in the Council Chamber which needed renewal.An 
allocation of £75,000 was included in the budget papers and a decision on the 
final spend would be brought back to Cabinet. He anticipated that 2/3 of this 
budget would be dedicated to installing a good quality sound system which 
would fully support those with hearing difficulties and the remaining third could 
be allocated to desirable features, possibly at a later date.  

The Cabinet Member Clean and Green Environment advised Members that a 
decision had been taken as of yesterday to suspend the operation of both 
cremators at the crematorium due to health and safety concerns.  He 
apologised for the impact this would have on bereaved families and friends. He 
thanked the local funeral directors who would be taking their calls and he 
thanked the dedicated officers at the Crematorium who did everything they 
could to keep the service going. Engineers were now on site to try and rectify 
the problem as quickly as possible. A media statement was being issued today.

The Leader advised that he was aware that a scrutiny task group had devised a 
list of proposed improvements for Cheltenham Spa Railway in 2015, which had 
been accepted by Cabinet. He had circulated the proposed draft response to 
the rail franchise consultation to the task group for their comment before 
formally submitting it next week.  

13. CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS SINCE LAST MEETING
Cabinet 
Member

Decision Link

Finance Appointment of NKS 
Contracts (Central) Ltd 
to renovate void 
properties

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDe
tails.aspx?ID=1057

Healthy 
Lifestyles

Positive Activities 
2017/18

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDe
tails.aspx?ID=1058

Leader Written Resolution for 
the Revised Executive 
Management Structure 
Gloucestershire Airport 
Limited

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDe
tails.aspx?ID=1060

Leader Appointment of Peter https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDe

Page 10

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1057
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1057
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1058
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1058
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1060
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1060
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1061


- 9 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 6 March 2018

Hibberd as specialist 
non-executive director 
of Gloucestershire 
Airport

tails.aspx?ID=1061

Leader Articles of Association 
and Shareholders' 
Agreement 
Gloucestershire Airport 
Limited

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDe
tails.aspx?ID=1064

14. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972-EXEMPT BUSINESS
RESOLVED:-

“That in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining agenda items as it 
is likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the 
nature of the proceedings, if members of the public are present there will 
be disclosed to them exempt information as defined in paragraph 3, Part 
(1) Schedule (12A) Local Government Act 1972, namely:

Paragraph 3; Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)

15. EXEMPT MINUTES
The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2017 were signed and 
approved as a correct record.

 
Chairman

Page 11

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1061
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1064
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1064


This page is intentionally left blank



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 1 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet – 6 March 2018

Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy 

Accountable member Councillor Andrew McKinlay, Cabinet Member for Development & 
Safety 

Accountable officer Mike Redman, Director of Environment 

Ward(s) affected All

Key/Significant 
Decision

Yes

Cabinet summary The council’s current licensing policy for private hire and taxis was adopted 
in July 2014.

Whilst there is no statutory requirement to undertake a review of the taxi 
policy, there is a commitment set out in the policy to do so at least once 
every three years to ensure the policy remains up to date and relevant.

A full consultation has been undertaken and this report reports back on the 
consultation feedback received and sets out the next steps.

Recommendations Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Note the consultation feedback received; 

2. Adopt the revised policy attached at Appendix 3 of this report; 
and 

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Environment to take the 
steps necessary to implement the policy changes.

Financial implications There are no major financial implications of this change in policy however 
we will need to monitor if there is an impact on the no. of licenses issued 
and renewed due to this policy.  This impact is expected to be minimal but 
will need to be monitored.

Contact officer:   Andrew Knott, Business Partner Accountant,                
Andrew.knott@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264121

Legal implications Should parts of the industry believe the authority’s Taxi and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy is not sound it would be open to them to undertake 
judicial review proceedings.

Contact officer: vikki.fennell@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 272015

Page 13
Agenda Item 5



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 2 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development) 

The Licensing Team Leader will need to keep under review the resource 
capacity required to implement the policy changes and proposals.

Contact officer: Carmel Togher, HR Business Partner                     
Email: carmel.togher@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242 775215

Key risks As outlined in Appendix 1

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications

Enhancing and protecting our environment

Strengthening our economy

Strengthening our communities 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications

None – Emissions policy already in place to comply with EU emissions.

Property/Asset 
Implications

None

Contact officer:   David Roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk

Page 14



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 3 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

1. Background
1.1 The council’s current licensing policy for private hire and taxis (“taxi policy” hereafter) was 

adopted in July 2014.
1.2 Whilst there is no statutory requirement to undertake a review of the taxi policy, there is a 

commitment set out in the policy to do so at least once every three years to ensure the policy 
remains up to date and relevant.

1.3 The Cabinet Member for Development and Safety approved a draft policy for consultation in 
September 2017.  A 12 week consultation was undertaken between September and December 
2017 and this report sets out the consultation feedback and seeks approval by Cabinet to adopt 
the proposed revision of the policy as outlined in this report.

2. Licensing Policy, Guidance and Conditions for Private Hire and Taxis
2.1 The council is responsible for the licensing and regulation of all hackney carriages (taxis) and 

private hire drivers, vehicles and operators.
2.2 While there is no statutory requirement on the council to have a taxi policy, it is common practice 

to do so. The taxi policy sets out how the council intends to discharge its functions under the 
relevant legislation but also acts as a guide to Members, prospective applicants, licence holders 
and the wider public.

3. Policy Review 
3.1 A taxi policy review working group was set up by the Licensing Committee in April 2017 to 

facilitate the review of the policy. Representatives were: 

 Cllr Adam Lillywhite

 Cllr Paul McCloskey

 Cllr David Willingham

 Rob Bates (Starline)

 Leon Jackson (Starline)

 Stuart Hawthorne (Hackney Carriage Assoc)

 Gary Knight (Hackney Carriage Assoc)

 John Donoher (independent HC driver & proprietor)

 Phil Cooper (CBC Licensing Officer)

 Andy Fox (CBC Senior Licensing Officer)  

3.2 The working group met on five occasions to consider the proposed changes to the current policy. 
The feedback and recommendations from the working group have been incorporated in the 
amended policy and subsequent policy consultation.  Copies of the working group minutes are 
attached at Appendix 2.

3.3 A copy of the revised policy is attached at Appendix 3 incorporating the proposed changes.

4. Consultation and Feedback
4.1 A 12 week public consultation was undertaken on a number of proposed policy changes.  In total 

39 consultation responses were received.  A breakdown of consultation responses are attached 
at Appendix 4 of this report.

Page 15



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 4 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

5. Proposals
Knowledge test 

5.1 As part of the fitness assessment for licence holders, applicants are required to pass a knowledge 
test.  This assessment is currently a comprehensive written test on a number of aspects including 
local geographical knowledge, Highway Code, basic literacy and numeracy and law and 
conditions.

5.2 Since the last policy review a number of factors relevant to the current local knowledge test have 
changed which has prompted the need for a review of the current assessment:
a) The council has introduced a higher standard for its practical driving assessment;
b) Safeguarding training has been introduced for all licensed drivers and new applicants for a 

driving licence; and 
c) The council has adopted a dedicated English proficiency policy and assessment service. 

5.3 As a consequence, the council is proposing a number of changes to the current knowledge 
assessment:
a) Replacing the written Highway Code section of the test with the higher practical driving 

assessment;
b) Introducing a learning day covering safeguarding, equality duty, law and conditions with a 

written/practical assessment at the end of the session;
c) Retaining the local geographical knowledge and basic numeracy elements of the test; and
d) Replacing the basic literacy written element of the test with the English proficiency policy 

and assessment service.
5.4 The majority of respondents supported this proposal.  As a consequence it is proposed that 

Cabinet adopts this policy proposal as set out above.

Three Strikes Policy
5.5 The council is proposing the introduction of a “Three Strikes Policy”.  The purpose of such a policy 

is to improve the council’s means of dealing with complaints, allegations and witnessed incidents 
of misconduct or infractions of a type which, individually, are not considered sufficiently serious to 
justify a review of a person’s suitability to hold a taxi or private hire driver, vehicle or operator 
licence, but which may give rise to such concerns if repeated or if regarded cumulatively with 
other such incidents.

5.6 The proposed policy lists a number of misdemeanours that, should a licensed driver be found to 
be in breach of one or more of these, it will be recorded against the driver’s licence records.  If the 
driver has at least three of these misdemeanours recorded against their licence, a review of their 
licence will be called in.

5.7 Consultation feedback on this proposal was mixed with a rough 50/50 split. Some respondents 
noted that the operation of the policy should be fair and a “strike” should only be awarded once a 
misdemeanour has been verified otherwise the policy will be unfair.  Officers will administer the 
policy under the existing complaints investigation procedure that ensures that complaints are 
substantiated prior to any formal action being taken.  The proposed changes suggested by the 
Licensing Committee have been incorporated in the draft policy.

5.8 It is important for the council to be able to discharge its statutory functions, particularly with 
regards to the fitness of licensed drivers, properly.  It therefore considers the implementation of 
this policy as necessary and to this extent, Cabinet is recommended to adopt this policy proposal.

Working hours 
5.9 There are no national standards or statutory regulations that strictly govern working hours for 

licensed taxi and private hire drivers.

Page 16



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 5 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

5.10 Through the policy review, it has been identified that there may be a need for the council to be 
proactive in regulating this in so far as it is able and practical.  To this end, the following proposed 
policy changes have been consulted on:
a) Amending licence conditions to set out a reasonable expectation on working hours for 

licence holders, implementing a mechanism whereby licence holders may need to keep a 
record of their working hours and to submit these records to the council; and 

b) Adopting a code of good practice for licensed drivers setting out the council’s expectations 
on safe working practices and the implications for non-compliance with the code.

5.11 Respondents commented on the practical difficulties of enforcing a statutory regulation of working 
hours for licensed drivers.  The council accepts this.  However, it considers it necessary, in the 
interest of public safety, to be clear on what it considers to be safe working practices for licensed 
drivers.

5.12 To this end, it is proposed that the council adopts a code of good practice for licensed drivers 
setting out its expectations on safe working practices in the trade.  In addition to the expectation 
the code will set, it can also be used more formally in individual cases where it is deemed 
necessary to maintain public safety.

5.13 It is therefore proposed that Cabinet adopts a code of practice that has been incorporated in the 
draft new policy.

Online criminal records checks (DBS)
5.14 The council is proposing to implement a requirement that all future criminal records checks be 

undertaken online.  The council currently accepts paper copies of Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) certificates.  However, the DBS service now offers a convenient online checking service 
that is both quick and more cost effective for both the council and licence holders.  

5.15 Some respondents suggested that this policy proposal will incur additional cost on licence 
holders.  However, this is not the case because the online checking service costs a lot less than 
administering the criminal records check on paper.  

5.16 The council is increasingly moving towards a paperless operating model.  Given that there is a 
convenient and less costly alternative to paper based checks, it is therefore proposed that 
Cabinet implements this policy proposal.

Vehicle emissions
5.17 The current policy includes an emission policy for licensed vehicles.  It is necessary for the 

council to review its current emissions policy because the current deadline for phasing out older 
vehicles expires this year.

5.18 The purpose of the revised policy is 1) to contribute to the local and national air quality strategy to 
improve air quality in the town and 2) to have a safe, modern and professional licensed fleet.

5.19 To this end, the proposed revised policy is:
New vehicles 

• Retain 5 year rule for petrol cars (which will result in an automatic Euro Emissions Standard 5 
compliance) 

• Apply Euro Emissions Standard 6 for diesel (i.e. vehicles no older than 1/9/2015)
• Any age for Ultra-low emission vehicles - defined as 75g CO2/km and under

Page 17



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 6 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

Existing vehicles 

Phase out older vehicles so to:

• Get all petrol vehicles to at least Euro 5 standard by 2021
• Get all diesel vehicles to Euro 6 standard by 2021
Given that by 2021 all licensed vehicles will be on the minimum Euro 5 emission standards, the 
council did not propose a maximum age limit in vehicles provided that they continue to be in 
exceptional condition and safe.  

5.20 Consultation feedback on this proposal was mixed.  A number of respondents agreed with the 
implementation of this policy but the majority of respondents did not.  However, very few of the 
respondents who disagreed with this policy change stated reasons for their disagreement and did 
not present the council with alternatives.

5.21 Those who did commented on the proposed transition arrangements for phasing out older 
vehicles.  They pointed out that the council’s revised policy did not specify a maximum age limit 
on vehicles and that the proposed phasing out arrangements may be unfair towards some licence 
holders. 

5.22 In response, the council has made revisions to its proposed emissions policy taking into account 
the comments made.  Cabinet is recommended to adopt the revised policy.

Testing arrangements 
5.23 The council currently only has one approved testing station for licensed vehicles which is Ubico 

Ltd.  It has operated under this policy for several years but a need to review this has arisen.  Due 
to the expansion of Ubico and the growth of the local trade, Ubico’s ability to continue to act as 
sole testing provider within the agreed service level agreement has become increasingly difficult. 

5.24 This has facilitated a review of the sole use arrangement with Ubico and it is proposed that testing 
arrangements be opened up to other testing stations that can demonstrate to the council their 
ability to test to the standard expected by the council.

5.25 There was unanimous support for this proposal.  To this end, Cabinet is recommended to approve 
the adoption of additional testing stations for licensed vehicles.

Grandfather rights  
5.26 Different rules currently exist for hackney carriage vehicle licence holders depending on the licence 

plate number.  A number of hackney carriage vehicle licence numbers have grandfather rights 
attached to them meaning that as long as the licence remains valid, these vehicles do not have to 
comply with the council’s wheelchair-accessible vehicle (“WAV”) policy.

5.27 The grandfather rights rules in effect means that those with saloon vehicles can continue to replace 
their vehicles with non-WAVs for the life of the licence.

5.28 This is in contrast to other newer licensed hackney carriage vehicles that do not have retained 
grandfather rights and which must be a WAV and can only be replaced with another WAV.

5.29 The council’s Cabinet has indicated that it wants to make changes to the grandfather rights rules to 
improve the availability to accessible public hire vehicles in Cheltenham.

5.30 The council consulted on a number of options with regards to existing grandfather rights.  These 
options were set out in the consultation document: 
a) Amend the grandfather rights so that these only apply to the current licensed vehicles and 

when the proprietor comes to replace that vehicle they are obligated to purchase a wheelchair-
accessible vehicle and/or purpose built taxi;

b) Make no changes to the current system;

Page 18



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 7 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

c) Amend the grandfather rights rules so that those who retain it can interchange between saloon 
cars and wheelchair-accessible vehicles without those rights being affected.

5.31 The majority of respondents indicated that they were against making any changes to the current 
grandfather rights arrangements.  It is worth pointing out that whilst the majority of respondents 
opposed any changes to the existing grandfather rights, very few actually gave further explanation 
for their opposition and additionally none provided the council with an alternative solution to 
increase the proportion of public hire WAVs.

5.32 The responses from those who did provide further comments with regards to their opposition can 
broadly be summarised as:

 A 100% wheelchair accessible fleet will discriminate against other people with mobility issues 
who will find it difficult to get in and out of wheelchair accessible vehicles since these 
vehicles tend to be higher than, for example, saloon vehicles; 

 Such a policy change will necessitate the replacement of a large amount of vehicles for 
replacements that are more costly than a normal saloon vehicle;

 The choice to change vehicles should be that of the individual drivers whilst retaining 
grandfather rights, in effect retain a mixed fleet;

 Demand for wheelchair accessible taxis does not exist because people in wheelchairs prefer 
to use pre-booked vehicles; and

 The price of vehicles that benefit from the retention of grandfather rights demand a higher 
resale value than those which do not and as a consequence the change in policy will devalue 
those vehicles.

5.33 The council’s Cabinet have indicated that their preferred option was to remove grandfather rights 
so that the WAV policy applies to all public hire vehicles irrespective of whether they are new 
vehicles or a replacement of an existing licensed vehicle.  Clearly the preferred option must be 
evaluated in light of the consultation feedback received.

5.34 The council is still of the view that it must improve the proportion of accessible vehicles on its 
public hire fleet.  The existing grandfather rights rules have resulted in a very slow increase in the 
number of public hire WAVs.  The increase of public hire WAVs in Cheltenham is almost 
exclusively down to new vehicles that have had to comply with the council’s WAVs policy.  

5.35 At present, only 22% of licensed hackney carriage vehicles are WAVs.  According to the DfT’s 
official statistics, Cheltenham’s proportion of accessible public hire vehicles is below the regional 
average (30%) and substantially below the national average (58%).

5.36 In addition to this, the council needs to be mindful of a number of other relevant issues.
5.37 Under the Council’s public sector equality duty it has a statutory duty in the exercise of its 

functions, to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not.

5.38 The equality duty covers the nine protected characteristics including age and disability.
5.39 The Government has made it clear that it expects local authorities to be proactive in improving the 

access to public hire vehicles.  The Government’s revised draft Accessibility Action Plan 
published in August 2017, for example, outlined proposals to strengthen its statutory guidance to 
local authorities that will seek “to increase the number of accessible vehicles” and “consult on 
best practice guidance for taxi and PHV licensing authorities, which will include strengthened 
recommendations on supporting accessible service...”.

Page 19



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 8 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

5.40 The revised updated guidance from the Department for Transport (DfT) has not, to date, been 
published.  The current DfT guidance (March 2010) however states: “…it is for individual licensing 
authorities to reach their own decisions both on overall policies and on individual licensing 
matters, in the light of their own views of the relevant considerations. This Guidance is intended to 
assist licensing authorities but it is only guidance and decisions on any matters remain a matter 
for the authority concerned.”
“Different accessibility considerations apply between taxis and PHVs [private hire vehicles]. Taxis 
can be hired on the spot, in the street or at a rank, by the customer dealing directly with a driver. 
PHVs can only be booked through an operator. It is important that a disabled person should be 
able to hire a taxi on the spot with the minimum delay or inconvenience, and having accessible 
taxis available helps to make that possible. For PHVs, it may be more appropriate for a local 
authority to license any type of saloon car, noting that some PHV operators offer accessible 
vehicles in their fleet.”

5.41 The council is mindful of the fact that the DfT guidance is not statutory guidance but it must 
nonetheless be mindful of it.

5.42 The council remains of the view that it must act to improve the proportion of public hire accessible 
vehicles.  In light of the lack of alternative proposals put forward by respondents during the 
consultation, the council has taken the view that it has no other alternative approach to take in 
order for it to improve the number of public hire accessible vehicles available in Cheltenham. 

5.43 To this end, it is proposed that the council adopts its preferred option referred to above. 
5.44 Cabinet must be mindful of the Licensing Committee’s view on this too.  The committee acts as 

lead consultee on these matters.  The committee was not in unison on the issue of changes to 
grandfather rights.  The majority (4) of the committee voted in favour of option C (see. 5.30) with 
the remaining Members (3) voting in favour of option A.   The committee did comment that it 
thought a more proportionate implementation of the policy change would be when affected 
vehicles are replaced as opposed to when they are due for renewal.  They did however 
acknowledge that that approach will extend the implementation of the policy by many years.

5.45 The council acknowledges that WAVs may have ambulatory accessibility issues.  However, there 
are no current accessibility standards that apply to vehicles other than WAVs.  This has left the 
council with no real alternatives.  Furthermore, the council is aware that a number of other local 
authorities have already adopted a 100% WAV policy.

5.46 The council is minded that any change to grandfather rights needs to be proportionate to manage 
the impact of such a policy change on the licensed trade.  The trade has highlighted the fact that 
the council’s preferred option will necessitate the replacement of a large amount of licensed 
vehicles.  Respondents to the consultation suggested that replacement vehicles can cost anything 
from £10,000 to upwards of £30,000 which is significantly more than what it will cost to replace a 
saloon type vehicle with another saloon vehicle.

5.47 This policy review also includes proposals for adopting higher emission standards for licensed 
vehicles.  The proposed emissions policy will in itself require some vehicles to be replaced in 
accordance with the proposed implementation  period.  

5.48 To this end, the council is proposing to phase in the changes to the grandfather rights rules.  It is 
proposed that it will implement the new policy requirements by 2021 which means that all public 
hire vehicles licensed by the council will be required to comply with the council’s WAV policy by 
this date. The council considers a 4 year implementation period to be proportionate. 

5.49 The council acknowledges the trade’s feedback that people in wheelchairs do not tend to use 
hackney carriage vehicles preferring instead to pre-book a licensed vehicle and so there is no 
need for the grandfather rights to be changed.  Whilst this may be the case as far as it relates to 
designated ranks, the council is aware that hackney carriages also undertake private hire work for 
the companies that fulfil these pre-booked journeys.  To this extent users of wheelchairs do 
regularly use licensed hackney carriages.

5.50 Finally, respondents have highlighted the implications a change to grandfather rights will have to 

Page 20



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 9 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

the “value” of their business investment. 
5.51 Whilst the council is mindful of this, licence plates remain the property of the council and to that 

extent it carries no value.  The “value” attached to the economic benefit of having a licence is an 
unofficial one.  

5.52 The council is of the view that the purpose of the licensing regime is not to provide an economic 
benefit to licence holders but to provide a safe and well-managed local transport service to 
passengers.  To this extent the council does not consider this to be a relevant consideration.  In 
any event, it has been pointed out in common law that circumstances and policies are subject to 
change and a licence holder will have made a business judgment about whether a certain price 
was worth paying, and took a business risk.  A licence holder could not have reasonably or 
legitimately expected that a "premium" was protected against the possibility of a future policy 
change.

Vehicle standards and specifications
5.53 A review has been undertaken of the council’s suitability standards for vehicles to be licensed.
5.54 The policy review sought views on the suitability of rear loading wheelchair accessible vehicles to 

continue to be licensed.
5.55 The council’s current policy permits both side-loading and rear loading wheelchair accessible 

vehicles.  The review was prompted by comments submitted by the public hire trade.
5.56 The main arguments in favour of disallowing rear loading wheelchair accessible vehicles to be 

licensed relates to safe access and egress from such vehicles.
5.57 It has been pointed out that in order for a wheelchair passenger to enter a rear-loading vehicle, it 

is necessary for them to be moved into the road either facing, or with their back to, oncoming 
traffic. This also requires the wheelchair user to be manoeuvred down a kerb which can cause 
further injury, pain or discomfort to some wheelchair users if not done with care. 

5.58 Wheelchair passengers in a rear-loading vehicle are seated at the back in the rear impact zone 
and are therefore at higher risk of injury in the event of an accident. Where the rear doors or 
tailgate of the vehicle are damaged it would be impossible for a wheelchair user to escape whilst 
in their wheelchair. 

5.59 A review of the suitability of continuing to license rear loading wheelchair accessible vehicles has 
been undertaken including taking into account comments submitted during the consultation 
period.

5.60 Whilst difficulties with rear loading vehicles have been highlighted, there are also some 
advantages to these types of vehicles that must be considered:

 Rear loading vehicles generally offer more headroom for passengers who would otherwise 
be forced to bend their head to enter in to a vehicle from the side particularly for larger type 
of wheelchairs. 

 Passengers loaded into a vehicle from the rear will immediately be facing the front or the 
back.  This is in contrast with side loading vehicles where a wheelchair entered into the 
vehicle from the side will be required to be turned to a 90 degree angle to face the front or 
back. It is important the wheelchair faces the front or back so that it can be secured and the 
brakes applied. If the chair remained facing sideways it is likely that it would tip over in the 
event of ascending or descending a steep incline or if the taxi was forced to break 
suddenly. 

 Rear loading vehicles are considered to be more beneficial to drivers in that it is easier to 
load and secure the wheelchair without being responsible for moving the passenger as 
much as is required when fitting a wheelchair into a side loaded vehicle.

5.61 Clearly any policy decision must be evidence based.  Since the policy changed 4 years ago, the 

Page 21



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 10 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

council have not had any substantiated recorded complaints from passengers complaining about 
access issues when using rear loading vehicles.

5.62 The Law Commission published a report in 2014 on taxi and private hire law reform.  The report 
was published after extensive consultation.  

5.63 The report stated: “Many wheelchair accessible vehicles are rear-loading, and some passengers 
prefer that. Others, however, prefer a side-loading vehicle. From a safety point of view a rear-
loading vehicle can present problems because the passenger can only access the vehicle from 
the road. This means that a longer ramp is required because the kerb cannot be used, which can 
present access problems…it is our view that a mixed fleet would, in general, more appropriately 
meet the needs of disabled people. It is clear that one size does not fit all...Even amongst those 
who use wheelchairs there are different requirements. This is one of the reasons why the 
Department for Transport has found it so difficult to identify a “universal” vehicle in order to 
implement provisions in the Equality Act 2010 and make regulations on taxi accessibility.” 

5.64 The Law Commission’s report concluded that “…we recommend that authorities should aim to 
ensure a mixture of different types of taxi in their area.”

5.65 Locally, a large number of rear loading wheelchair accessible vehicles also undertake private hire 
work.  It has been noted that the public hire trade commented that wheelchair users prefer to use 
pre-booked services and tend to not use taxi ranks.  It may be for this reason that access 
difficulties associated with rear loading vehicles working off a taxi rank has been minimal.

5.66 The review undertaken by officers has concluded that both types of vehicles (rear and side 
loading) pose problems and different types of vehicle are preferred by various wheelchair users. 
There is therefore no consensus as to what are the most suitable vehicles for wheelchair users.

5.67 To this end, it is not proposed that the council makes any changes to its policy on the suitability of 
rear loading vehicles.  The council will keep this policy under review to keep it in line with best 
practice and Government guidelines.

Equality Act 2010: Taxi and private hire requirements
5.68 The council is seeking to implement the new statutory requirements placed upon it by the newly 

enacted section 167 of the Equalities Act 2010 as part of this policy review.
5.69 Section 167 places a new duty on the council to provide a list of wheelchair accessible hackney 

carriages and private hire vehicles for publication.  It also places certain obligations on drivers of 
vehicles on this list to carry wheelchair users and not to impose any additional charges for doing 
so.

5.70 The legislation leaves it to the council to decide what type of licensed vehicles should be included 
on the designated list.  The statutory guidance however makes it clear that these must be 
vehicles capable of carrying wheelchairs.

5.71 To this end, the council has taken a view similar to that recommended by the statutory guidance 
whereby all vehicles licensed by this council to carry, as a minimum requirement, a “reference 
wheelchair” will be added to the designated list.

5.72 This list will be published in order for people who require the services of a wheelchair accessible 
vehicle to easily find this information. 

5.73 The majority of respondents either support this proposal or offered no comment.  It is therefore 
proposed that Cabinet adopts this proposal.

Licensed Operators Conditions 
5.74 There is an increasing issue of out of town vehicles working in Cheltenham due to the relaxation 

of out of district sub-contracting rules.  
5.75 The council cannot enforce against vehicles and drivers not licensed by it (unless it is a criminal 

Page 22



Review of Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Policy Page 11 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

offence committed).  It is therefore proposed that the council amend its conditions for licensed 
private hire operators to introduce a new requirement on them that, when they subcontract a 
booking to an operator not licensed in Cheltenham, they take all reasonable steps to ensure that 
the vehicle dispatched is not silver. The rationale behind this is to try to avoid members of the 
public confusing out of town vehicles with Cheltenham’s predominantly silver hackney carriage 
fleet.  

5.76 Respondents commented on the practical difficulties the council may have in enforcing such a 
condition.  Furthermore, comments were also submitted commenting on the practical implications 
of such a condition due to the fact that the council cannot control the operation of operators 
outside its boundaries.  

5.77 Taking this into account, it is not proposed that the council adopts this policy proposal.

6. Reasons for recommendations
6.1 To ensure the council continues to comply with its statutory duties and able to maintain a safe, 

accessible and well managed taxi and private hire service in Cheltenham.

7. Alternative options considered
7.1 Cabinet can decide not to adopt all or some of the proposals put forward.  The implications of the 

alternative options are set out in the report.

8. Performance management – monitoring and review
8.1 The performance of the policy changes will be measured by its implantation and the implications 

of these changes as outlined in the report.

Report author Contact officer: Louis Krog, louis.krog@cheltenham.gov.uk, 

01242 262626

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment

2. Minutes of working group meetings 

3. Draft revised policy 

4. Consultation feedback 

Background information 1. Consultation responses 

2. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

3. Taxi and private hire vehicle licensing: best practice (March 2010)

4. Licensing Policy: Private Hire And Taxis Operating within the 
Borough of Cheltenham (July 2014)

Page 23



$sv5cx1s4.docx Page 12 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

Risk Assessment Appendix 1 

The risk Original risk score
(impact x likelihood)

Managing risk

Risk 
ref.

Risk description Risk
Owner

Date 
raised

Impact
1-5

Likeli-
hood
1-6

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible
officer

Transferred to risk 
register

If Cabinet does not 
implement the 
proposed changes 
to its emissions 
policy, it risks 
slipping on its local 
air quality 
management plan.

Director of 
Environment 

March 
2018

2 3 6 Accept Approve adoption 
of revised policy 
that includes 
measures to 
address AQ in 
taxi/PH licensing.

Throughout 
life of 
policy

Licensing 
Team 
Leader

N/A if the
recommendations
of this report are
agreed.

If Cabinet does not 
adequately address 
relevant equality 
issues associated 
with the regulation 
of the trade then it 
risks failing in its 
public sector 
equality duty.

Director of 
Environment 

March 
2018

3 3 9 Accept Approve adoption 
of revised policy 
that includes 
measures to 
address equality 
issues associated 
with the 
regulation of the 
trade.

Throughout 
life of 
policy

Licensing 
Team 
Leader

N/A if the
recommendations
of this report are
agreed.

If Cabinet fails to 
approve a review of 
this policy there is a 
risk that the policy 
will become out of 
date and irrelevant. 
This may result in 
the council being 
unable to effectively 
discharge its 
functions which 
could have an 
adverse effect on 
public protection.

Director of 
Environment 

March 
2018

3 3 9 Accept Approve adoption 
of revised policy.

Throughout 
life of 
policy

Licensing 
Team 
Leader

N/A if the
recommendations
of this report are
agreed.

P
age 24



$sv5cx1s4.docx Page 13 of 13 Last updated 23 February 2018

If Cabinet does not 
approve reasonable 
implementation 
periods for these 
policy changes, 
particularly those 
that will have a 
significant impact 
on licence holders, 
then it risks legal 
challenges on the 
grounds of 
proportionality and 
reasonableness.

Director of 
Environment 

March 
2018

3 4 12 Accept Ensure policy 
implementation 
periods are 
managed 
properly.

Throughout 
life of 
policy

Licensing 
Team 
Leader

N/A if the
recommendations
of this report are
agreed.

Explanatory notes
Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6 

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability)

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cheltenham Borough Council taxi / PH licensing policy working group 2017

Meeting (1), 30th March 2017

Licensing of private hire and hackney carriage drivers

Attendees: 

Cllr Adam Lillywhite Cllr Paul McCloskey

Cllr David Willingham Rob Bates (Starline)

Leon Jackson (Starline) Stuart Hawthorne (Hackney Carriage Assoc)

Gary Knight (Hackney Carriage Assoc) John Donoher (independent HC driver & proprietor)

Phil Cooper (CBC Licensing Officer) Andy Fox (CBC Senior Licensing Officer)  

Cllr McCloskey agreed to chair the meeting.

Record of matters discussed.

Local knowledge test

Officers propose to remove the existing knowledge test and replace with:

(1) A mandatory training course for all new drivers covering law and conditions, safeguarding, 
accessibility and more;

(2) A shorter knowledge test concentrating solely on the knowledge of the borough.

There was agreement in principle from the group, with the following comments:

 The new process should result in no additional time to the application process. Officers 
confirmed that the actual process has yet to be decided but it is likely that the course and 
short LKT would be held as regularly as the current knowledge test, so there shouldn’t be 
any additional delay for applicants.

 General comments about the local geography test especially if it follows the existing format 
– some concerns that new drivers are passing the test but don’t seem to know their way 
around. Concern that ‘places of interest / name the street’ may not be the most robust way 
of testing knowledge of the borough because it doesn’t include residential streets or routes 
from A to B, which would be more rigorous but potentially more difficult to set / mark such a 
test. 

 If the basic numeracy section is removed from the test it should be incorporated into the 
training course or tested in some other way. It was felt by the group to be vital that drivers 
should be able to calculate change correctly.

 The basic English section can be removed because there is now an English proficiency test, 
which should be included in the policy in the first paragraph of the driver section alongside 
criminal record check, driver assessment etc.

Page 27



Medical assessments

Some members of the group felt that a 3 yearly medical is excessive and costly, pointing out that 
other professions are not so regularly tested. One member of the group felt that there should be just 
one medical assessment at the new application stage, after which it should be left to the driver to 
visit their doctor as required and report medical conditions to the council as they arise. Other 
members of the group said this could mean a taxi driver not having a medical for decades. 

Other members of the group felt that 3 yearly is not excessive and is a safeguard so that drivers who 
have developed conditions cannot keep them from the licensing authority.

The working group asked officers to check how regularly some other professions are medically 
tested, the answer to which is as follows: bus drivers and pilots every 5 years until age 65 then every 
year, although pilots are subject to other more frequent tests on specific issues such as ECG, 
respiratory function etc. 

Officers explained that the 3 yearly medical requirement (up to age 65) is because licences are 
renewed every 3 years and a new medical is required each time the licence is renewed because the 
council needs to be satisfied that the person is fit before issuing a licence. 

There was no unanimous agreement on this.

Re over 65s requiring annual medicals – this should be accompanied by a statement of due regard to 
explain why it is not age discrimination. 

NVQ

Officers explained that this was introduced as a mandatory requirement around 7 years ago and 
since then there have been several changes to our other procedures, including a much more robust 
knowledge test for new drivers, a more comprehensive driving assessment, an English test and 
mandatory safeguarding training. In addition to which government funding for the NVQ has now 
been withdrawn (although some training providers have sourced some funding from the EU) which 
means it has the potential to be prohibitively expensive for drivers (£hundreds). Consequently 
officers are recommending removing this requirement. Working group members were in agreement 
as long as officers ensure / are satisfied that the important parts of the NVQ are being covered 
elsewhere e.g. through the training course for new drivers and the driver assessment.

Drivers’ badges

Officers are recommending enforcing the requirement that drivers should return their badges on 
renewal / expiry of their licence, in the same way that we take back expired vehicle plates before 
issuing new ones (this is already in the policy but is not enforced). There was general agreement 
although it was pointed out that whilst we give out 2 badges to every driver, most only use 1 and 
therefore are unlikely to return both. Should we change this so that we only issue 1 driver badge?

Page 28



Vaping / e-cigarettes

General agreement in principle on a policy ban on drivers vaping or using cigarette substitutes in 
vehicles, however it is understood that there would be resource implications in terms of 
enforcement and also difficult to take action because, unlike smoking, driving a taxi / PHV whilst 
vaping is not an offence in law. 

Penalty points system

Discussion about potentially introducing a points system for enforcement and disciplinary matters, 
whereby officers and / or licensing committee would impose points on a 
driver/proprietor/operator’s record in the event of that person breaching a policy requirement or 
law. Once points accrue to a certain pre-defined level, e.g. 10 points in a 12 month period, their 
licence would be reviewed by the committee.

Comments:

 System must be clearly defined, i.e. what breaches / offences will incur points and how 
many? The trade must be made fully aware.

 Must incorporate a clear and fair avenue for appealing or disputing points imposition. 
Officers explained that in Worcester any such appeals are referred in writing to the licensing 
manager. Several members of the working group felt that this is unfair as it’s still the 
licensing team deciding. Would prefer appeals / disputes to be considered by an 
independent arbiter.

 If introduced could it be on a trial basis? It would need to be more than a year to test 
whether it works, so review the scheme when the policy is next reviewed?

Code of conduct

Item f, CCTV – could the wording be changed to make it apparent that the council encourages 
drivers to install CCTV both for crime prevention and to protect themselves against allegations. 
There followed a brief discussion about making CCTV mandatory but no one felt that is the right way 
forward.

Item g – some drivers think having a safe in the boot makes them a target for thieves, especially if it 
became mandatory and people knew about them. Accepted that it’s just something drivers should 
consider – not mandatory. 

Item k doesn’t define what ‘vulnerable’ is and why only at night? Also if a driver drops off (for 
example) a young woman at night and then sits in the car watching her until she’s indoors, that in 
itself looks creepy and could invite complaints about the driver. And what if the person asks to be 
dropped off in a dangerous place, should the driver refuse to leave her there because they can’t 
ensure she’s safe? Suggestion that instead of requiring drivers to do this, there could be a sticker in 
the car saying “If you would like the driver to wait at your destination until you are safely indoors, 
please ask.”

Item j. Consider amending the wording so that it includes a requirement to work with the taxi 
marshals and not to unreasonably refuse a request from them. This led to a wider discussion about 

Page 29



the marshals and what they should and shouldn’t be doing, including allegations that they cherry-
pick certain jobs for the drivers they know. 

Medication – add a requirement that drivers who are taking prescription medication must read and 
adhere to the prescription instructions and must not drive if the prescription instructions say not to.

Discussion about sports clothes – some rugby / football tops are expensive and quite smart and 
should be allowed. Counter-argument that such items can cause confrontation.

Re “footwear not secured around the heel” (e.g. flip-flops) could this be broadened out to include 
other sorts of inappropriate shoes, e.g. large heels?

Under responsibility to residents, change “remain in the vehicle” to “remain with the vehicle”.

Appendix I, diabetes policy

Agreement from the group to remove this as it seems unnecessary when we don’t have separate 
polices for other medical conditions.

Appendix J relevance of convictions

No issues with this but a request to include domestic violence in para 2.6, also modern slavery if it’s 
not already included elsewhere.

General

Where there is a specific requirement on a driver, e.g. to pass a knowledge test or report something 
to the council, the language should be changed from “shall” / “is required to”, to “must”. Applicable 
throughout the policy for consistency.

Wherever the term “his or her” appears, replace with “their”.

The data protection statement that appears on our application forms (“the council will use / share 
your data for the following reasons”) should also be in the policy.

There’s a requirement that drivers must hold “a full UK driving licence (or recognised equivalent)”. Is 
that still the case or do all resident UK drivers now have to be holders of UK licences? Officers to 
check.

Under ‘first application procedure’:
(d) explain what DBS stands for
(f) explain that the approved provider’s details are on the website, or provide a link
(g) change to reflect the fact that there will be a knowledge test of local geography and a mandatory 
training course
Add one more: (h) Successfully demonstrate proficiency in English by way of a test or an appropriate 
qualification.

Under criminal record include a sentence explaining that all convictions, cautions, driving 
endorsements must be declared including foreign ones. 

Page 30



Foreign nationals – where it says they must provide an English translation of certain documents, 
should we explain that this will be at the applicant’s expense and not the council’s?

Knowledge test – change to reflect new training course etc and also remove the statement that they 
can pay 48 hours before the test.

Under driver renewal applications (b) , change “DVSA” to DVLA and delete (f) .

Cheltenham Borough Council taxi / PH licensing policy working group 2017

Meeting (2), 6th April 2017

Licensing of private hire and hackney carriage vehicles

Attendees: 

Cllr Adam Lillywhite Cllr Paul McCloskey

Cllr David Willingham Rob Bates (Starline)

Leon Jackson (Starline) Muhammad Hasnain (Hackney Carriage Assoc)

Gary Knight (Hackney Carriage Assoc) John Donoher (independent HC driver & proprietor)

Phil Cooper (CBC Licensing Officer) Andy Fox (CBC Senior Licensing Officer)  

Cllr McCloskey agreed to chair the meeting.

Record of matters discussed

Before dealing specifically with policy matters there was a general discussion about out-of-town 
vehicles, i.e.: 

- PHVs that are licensed in another borough and dispatched by an operator in that borough to 
do a job in Cheltenham

- HCVs that are licensed in another borough doing pre-booked work in Cheltenham (whether 
through an operator or not)

Some members of the working group felt that this situation, while legitimate in law, lowers 
standards, creates an unfair playing field, reduces the amount of work available for drivers licensed 
by CBC and makes enforcement more difficult. 

A member of the working group said there is an article in the latest PHTM saying that some insurers 
are beginning to issue borough-specific insurance, e.g. you’re insured to do PHV work in Tewkesbury 
but not in Gloucester because the risks there are greater. The member of the group asked what 
officers can do about this – for example stopping out-of-town vehicles to check their insurance. 
Officers advised that if an out-of-town vehicle is working in Cheltenham on a legitimate pre-booked 

Page 31



job, even if their insurance is invalid for the reasons described above, CBC wouldn’t be able to take 
any action against them as they’re not committing a licensing offence. Driving without insurance is a 
police matter and CBC officers would have no jurisdiction.  

Wheelchair accessible vehicles

The current policy requirement is that all new hackney carriages must be: 

“. . . disabled accessible as per London Public Carriage Office Specification, Eurocab M1 Specification 
or such other nationally accepted specification as is agreed by the Council (see appendix C)” 

whilst appendix C says they must be: “designed or adapted to M1 standard.” 

Some members of the group felt that the policy requirement should be (and they believe used to be) 
Eurocab M1 or London Public Carriage Office standard specification only. The result of allowing 
vehicles that only comply with standard M1 specification – rather than Eurocab specification – is that 
vehicles such as the Peugeot Partner / Premier are now within the required specification, whilst they 
are really only domestic vehicles, not public carriage vehicles. 

Members of the group stated that the difference between standard M1 spec and Eurocab M1 spec is 
that vehicles complying with the latter are larger and most importantly safer, because wheelchairs 
can access/exit the vehicle through 2 doors (rear and side) rather than just the rear door. Some 
members of the group felt that in the event of a collision involving the rear door on a Peugeot 
Partner for example, a passenger in a wheelchair could become trapped in the vehicle as there is no 
other suitable exit.

The suggestion by the group is that the specification should be amended and tightened up to allow 
only those wheelchair accessible vehicles that have been approved or designed for taxi work, i.e. 
Eurocab M1 or London-style taxis, and not to allow standard domestic wheelchair accessible vehicles 
such as the Peugeot Partner.

Unmet demand / limiting numbers of hackney carriages

The current policy does not limit the number of hackney carriages, but it does place a requirement 
on all new hackney carriages to be wheelchair accessible. Some members of the working group felt 
that the number should be capped as there is no unmet demand in Cheltenham. 

Officers explained that the process for introducing a cap would be to get approval from Members to 
consult with the trade on a proposal to commission an unmet demand survey, which would need to 
be paid for by the trade, to establish if there is an unmet demand in the borough. In the event of 
there being no unmet demand, a cap could be introduced but the survey would need to be repeated 
at intervals, again to be paid for by the trade (in theory it could be met through an increase in 
hackney carriage vehicle licence fees). Officers further pointed out that current government 
recommendation is not to impose caps.

All 3 of the hackney carriage trade reps present in the meeting confirmed that they want the council 
to look into consulting with the trade on carrying out an unmet demand survey to consider a cap on 
numbers. 

Page 32



Colour policy

There was a discussion about the requirement, introduced 2 years ago, for all new/replacement 
hackney carriages to be silver in colour and all new/replacement private hire vehicles to be any 
colour but silver. At this stage, 2 years down the line, it is not immediately noticeable that the 
hackney trade is predominantly silver but that will change over time (of all hackneys licensed by CBC 
the split is currently around 60% silver to 40% not silver). 

There was a discussion about the fact that silver is not an unusual colour and hackney carriages 
licensed elsewhere can be any colour, which muddies the water, as well as unlicensed private 
vehicles that are silver. There was a discussion about the possibility of introducing a single wrap on 
the bonnet with a different colour. This would immediately identify that it is a licensed Cheltenham 
hackney and differentiate it not only from licensed CBC private hires, but also differentiate it from 
out of town cars and private vehicles. However on discussion, in general the group felt that the top-
light displaying the word taxi, the green plate on the back and the fact that all of CBC’s taxis will 
ultimately be silver, is enough to differentiate them from private hire vehicles and there is no need 
or desire to introduce any changes to this part of the policy at this stage. The silver policy has only 
been in effect for 2 years so the impact should be more noticeable next time the policy is reviewed 
in 3 years. 

Age policy

The policy currently states that all vehicles being licensed for the first time (i.e. not renewals) must 
be under 5 years of age. It was generally felt that this does not need to be changed, although some 
members of the group felt that if the council’s priority is reducing emissions, it could incentivise 
drivers to buy hybrid cars by relaxing or exempting them from the 5 year age requirement. As hybrid 
cars are more expensive it is difficult to afford one that is under 5 years. So the requirement would 
be, for example, “Must be under 5 years of age (or 10 for hybrid vehicles)”. 

Some members of the group felt that 10 years is too old to license a vehicle for the first time 
regardless of emissions, especially as emissions are not the only priority when licensing a vehicle 
(other important factors are the appearance and most importantly the safety of the vehicle, both of 
which can be compromised by its age), but the requirement could be relaxed to 7 or 8 years for 
hybrid vehicles if people felt it was appropriate to do so in order to improve emissions.

Roof sign

The current policy requirement is that HCVs must be fitted with an illuminated sign on the roof, of a 
design approved by the council. The HCV proprietors/drivers present felt that the design currently 
approved by CBC is too large and causes drag, which increases emissions and is only guaranteed up 
to 60mph. General agreement from the group to look into changing the approved roof sign or 
relaxing this requirement, as long as it remains clearly recognisable that it is a CBC vehicle. 

Testing station arrangements

General approval from the group that the trade is currently restricted by only being able to use 1 
approved testing station and that this should be opened up to other garages – but not just any 
garage. The general agreement was that there should be a set list of approved local garages which 

Page 33



will carry out both the MOT and the fitness test - although some members of the group felt that the 
fitness test is unnecessary and should be replaced by a visual test by licensing officers, which officers 
said is not practical with current resources.

The requirement at the moment is that all vehicles must have an MOT and fitness test when first 
licensed and again annually thereafter on renewal until age 8, after which the MOT and fitness test 
must be carried out every 6 months. Those present felt that this arrangement is acceptable although 
some felt that the fitness test is unnecessary and some people felt that 6 month test should apply to 
all vehicles, not just those over 8 – there was no consensus on this. Some suggested it might be 
better to test vehicles more frequently based on their mileage rather than their age, but again there 
was no consensus on this. 

Misc 

One member of the group felt that just as it is a requirement for PH vehicles to display their 
operator’s signage on the doors, HC vehicles affiliated with an operator should also display their 
operator’s signage. Officers pointed out however that this requirement is because PH vehicles must 
be dispatched by an operator whereas HC vehicles don’t have to be. Also HC vehicles could be 
affiliated with multiple operators so it would be impossible to enforce.

Officers mentioned that some authorities have a third colour plate for temporary vehicles, a ‘T-plate’ 
(green for example) which immediately indicates that the vehicle is only licensed on a temporary 
basis. This would only apply to hackneys because we don’t issue temp plates for private hire 
vehicles. There was a general discussion but no decision made on whether or not this is worthwhile.

The requirement to display advance booking stickers should be changed to say the stickers must be 
clearly visible (a councillor pointed out that a driver who appeared before committee last year 
admitted that he had the stickers but that they were not clearly visible).

Applicable throughout the policy: Use paragraph numbers rather than bullet points so that specific 
sections in the policy can be referred to and found more easily. When referring to multiple 
appendices they should be listed in order, appendix A, B, C etc.

Include the byelaws applicable to hackney carriages as an appendix to the policy.

Under trailers – remove “must comply with Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regs” as we 
shouldn’t be duplicating legislation. Or change to advisory.

Under communications devices – update so it gives advice re using mobile phones, also radios are 
now rarely used but where they are used they have at least 2 frequencies, not 1. Radios must be 
licensed.

Under CCTV – include a reminder that they must be registered with information commissioner.

 

Page 34



Cheltenham Borough Council taxi / PH licensing policy working group 2017

Meeting (3), 13th April 2017

Licensing of private hire and hackney carriage vehicles

Attendees: 

Cllr Adam Lillywhite Cllr Paul McCloskey

Cllr David Willingham Rob Bates (Starline)

Leon Jackson (Starline) Stuart Hawthorne (Hackney Carriage Assoc)

Gary Knight (Hackney Carriage Assoc) John Donoher (independent HC driver & proprietor)

Phil Cooper (CBC Licensing Officer) Andy Fox (CBC Senior Licensing Officer)  

Cllr Willingham agreed to chair the meeting.

Record of matters discussed

Continuing the review of the vehicles section of the policy, which we began the previous week.

Type approval

Members of the group mentioned again that the eurocab M1 standard should be the only approved 
standard for new wheelchair accessible hackney carriages (see notes from meeting 2) and suggested 
that when consulting on this, disabled groups should be included in the consultation.

Tinted windows

Current policy requirement is that vehicles may only have tinted glass if it is factory fitted, but 
members of the group feel that factory fitted tints are now darker so this should be changed. In 
particular the group felt that for public safety reasons there should be no privacy glass permitted.

A suggestion was made that the policy could have a specific maximum % tint, although it was 
pointed out that this may make it more difficult to buy cars (i.e. they already have to be silver and 
now we’re saying they must also not have a tint of more than x% in the glass). Also who tests the tint 
%, licensing officers? The approved garage? 

Would vehicles that are plate exempt also be exempt from the tint requirement?

The group suggested that officers should take this away and see what other councils do about this.

First aid kit and fire extinguisher

The group felt that this should be either removed completely, or changed to advisory. In particular 
drivers are not insured or trained to administer first aid or to tackle fires so would be reluctant to 
use them. Some operators routinely tell their drivers not to use them due to concerns about 
litigation. 

Page 35



Advertising

Page 32 – “Advertising, please see policy attached” – change from F to E

The original policy only allowed advertising on purpose-built HCVs, for example London style. 
However it now appears to allow any HCV to have external 3rd party advertising, but not PHVs.

General agreement that the policy should either revert to purpose-built HCVs only, or should be 
broadened to include PHVs, but if the latter then there should be a caveat that full-body wraps on 
PHVs should have no silver colouring at all, and adverts on HCVs should be at least 60% silver.

It was generally agreed that while the group doesn’t have a problem with 3rd party advertising, 
which is a good way of drivers making some additional income, it does compromise the silver / not 
silver policy. 

Plate exemption (PHVs only)

General discussion about whether this should apply only to vehicles that are executive or luxury in 
terms of their make/model, or whether it should be based on the sort of work they do - e.g. GCHQ 
may not want their vehicle to stand out so may want it to be a standard saloon vehicle, not a luxury 
vehicle. Whilst there was no general agreement on this it was agreed that drivers applying for plate 
exemption or renewing their exemption must provide clear evidence of the work they’re doing and 
it must be up-to-date. In particular a vehicle should not be plate exempt simply because it does 
normal airport runs – in fact for enforcement reasons those vehicles should have a plate as they are 
monitored by airport security.

Differentiating between HCVs, PHVs and private vehicles

The issue of a single wrap on HCV bonnets was brought up again (see notes from previous meeting) 
but the HCV reps present said they had spoken to colleagues in the trade and there is no appetite for 
introducing this so soon after introducing the silver policy 2 years ago. The group in general agreed 
to leave this alone until the next policy review, although it led on to a more general discussion about 
how to educate the public to know the difference between HCV, PHV, out of town vehicles and 
unlicensed vehicles. For example could the council do more, particularly around race-week, in terms 
of advertising the differences? “If you get into an unlicensed taxi you’re just getting into a stranger’s 
car”.   

Cheltenham Borough Council taxi / PH licensing policy working group 2017

Meeting (4), 20th April 2017

Operators and miscellaneous

Attendees: 

Page 36



Cllr Adam Lillywhite Cllr David Willingham

Rob Bates (Starline) Leon Jackson (Starline)

Gary Knight (Hackney Carriage Assoc) John Donoher (independent HC driver & proprietor)

Phil Cooper (CBC Licensing Officer) Andy Fox (CBC Senior Licensing Officer)  

Andy Burford (Transport Procurement & Compliance Manager, Gloucestershire County Council)

Cllr Willingham agreed to chair the meeting

Record of matters discussed

DBS checks for operators

The policy currently requires operators to complete a standard DBS check, although in practice most 
operators already have enhanced DBS checks because they are also licensed drivers.  Could this be 
changed so that all DBS checks for operators are enhanced?

A comment from the working group that whilst the operator must be DBS checked, their staff are 
not required to be, even though it is normally the staff who take bookings and dispatch the drivers. 
We can’t introduce this as a mandatory requirement as the staff are not individually licensed, but 
could it be introduced as recommended good practice? 

Convictions

The policy states that an operator with convictions will be dealt with as per appendix J – however 
appendix J deals mainly with how drivers with convictions are treated. Should it be rewritten to 
include a specific section for operators? For example a conviction for a driving related offence 
should be treated more seriously for drivers than operators because operators don’t drive 
passengers. 

Voluntary code of conduct for licensed operators

A suggestion from the working group that licensed operators could be asked to agree to a code of 
conduct, with the following examples as starting points:

(1) Operators will ensure that each person employed by them who takes bookings will supply to 
the operator a basic criminal record check (for example a Disclosure Scotland). 

(2) Operators who sub-contract a Cheltenham booking to an out-of-town operator or to an out-
of-town hackney carriage, will ensure that a silver vehicle is not used.

Planning permission

Operators are advised to get planning consent for their premises but this is not checked and an 
operator’s licence would not currently be refused if they didn’t have the appropriate planning 
permission. Should this be more stringently required? Should licensing have a consultation process 

Page 37



with planning to ensure operators have the appropriate planning permission? This may discourage 
people setting up as operators from domestic addresses. 

Duty to keep records

Appendix H requires operators to keep records of drivers, vehicles, desk staff and bookings for two 
years, however a member of the working group felt that the data protection act limits the amount of 
time such records can be kept to a maximum of 12 months. Can officers check this?

Duty to submit records

The policy requires all operators to submit quarterly records of drivers, vehicles and staff to the 
licensing team. Whilst this has occasionally been useful when trying to locate a particular driver (e.g. 
following complaint or if the police are seeking a witness), it is felt that it is overly burdensome on 
the operators to have to do this 4 times a year and also adds unnecessary admin for the licensing 
team in terms of sending reminder letters etc. The working group generally feel that operators 
should be required to keep the information and make it available on request rather than be required 
to send quarterly returns – although it was mentioned that in the event of an urgent enquiry (e.g. 
police seeking a witness) officers would be in the position of having to contact every operator as the 
records would not be on file.

Licence duration

Policy states that operators licences will be issued for 1 year. This is now 5 years.

Subcontracting

The law allows an operator, upon taking a booking, to subcontract that booking to another operator 
either inside or outside the borough. The operator isn’t required to tell the customer that the 
booking has been subcontracted, but a law commission report on reforming taxi and private hire 
law, published in 2014, recommended that “Any person accepting a booking in respect of a private 
hire journey will be under a duty to provide information to the hirer about who they passed the 
booking on to.” Whilst these reforms have not been implemented in law, a member of the working 
group asked whether a similar requirement could be imposed by our policy. Another member of the 
working group felt that this is very difficult as the person taking the call (or online booking) doesn’t 
always know at the time of the booking whether or not it will be necessary to subcontract it out.

(see para 3.142 of 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/314106/97814741
04531_web.pdf) – note: this 2014 report has not been adopted  either as law or as formal 
recommendations to licensing authorities 

Safeguarding

In Cheltenham all drivers are required to undergo safeguarding training but this does not apply to 
operators or their staff. That being the case, should the policy contain a section alerting operators 
and their staff to safeguarding issues and requiring them to have due regard for such matters?

Display of operator’s licence

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/314106/9781474104531_web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/314106/9781474104531_web.pdf


Appendix H requires operators to display their operators licence conspicuously on the premises. Can 
this be changed to “where those premises are open to the public”, otherwise operators dispatching 
from a domestic address are breaching the policy if they don’t display their licence in their home.

Signage

Appendix H requires all vehicles dispatched by an operator to display their company logo on the 
front nearside and offside doors. A member of the working group representing operators felt that 
this should be changed to “on the side of the vehicle” rather than specifying the doors, as it is 
becoming more difficult to use magnets on the door panels and it’s easier to adhere them to the 
rear side panels. The sign would still be visible on the side of the car and some members of the 
group felt that it makes no difference which panel is used as long as the sign is on the side of the 
vehicle.  Other members of the group felt that for consistency and to assist enforcement the signs 
should all be in the same place, i.e. on the doors, and if magnets don’t work there are other methods 
that can be used. There was no agreement on this.

Misc

That ended the discussion about the operators sections of the policy, but then there was a brief 
discussion about other aspects of the policy that the group had covered in previous meetings but 
which Andy B, the County Council representative, had missed. 

- Tinted windows: The policy currently allows tints only if they are factory-fitted, however in a 
previous meeting of this working group it was agreed that this should be looked at because 
factory-fitted tints are getting darker and it was felt that for security, safety and enforcement 
reasons it is necessary to be able to see into all licensed vehicles. However, Andy B said that some 
of their contracts require tinted windows due to specific medical conditions.

- Wheelchair accessible vehicles: GCC have specific requirements for their vehicles which do not 
necessarily match the requirements in CBC’s policy – e.g. tail-lifts – which is why GCC tend to use 
vehicles licensed elsewhere e.g. Tewkesbury. Consequently Andy would like to be involved in the 
discussion about CBC’s policy standards for accessible vehicles.

- Fire extinguishers: the working group recently agreed to remove the requirement that all licensed 
vehicles must have fire extinguishers, but to leave it as a recommendation or to leave it at the 
driver / proprietor’s discretion. Andy B said that it is a requirement in accessible vehicles to carry 
2 fire extinguishers but it was agreed that CBC’s policy doesn’t override that, so they would still 
have to carry fire extinguishers if the law or GCC’s contract required them to.  

In each of these cases it was confirmed that CBC’s policy would not preclude a proprietor from 
making an application to the council to license a vehicle that does not meet policy requirements. For 
example if a vehicle has a non-factory tint which is required for medical reasons, that application 
could be considered on its merits. It was further agreed that it would be appropriate for Andy B to 
be invited to a meeting of Gloucestershire’s county-wide licensing officer’s forum (known as GLOG) 
where he could more generally discuss the standards they require for their contracted vehicles. GCC 
will also be included in the formal consultation process once this policy review gets to the 
consultation stage.

Page 39



END

Page 40



1

LICENSING POLICY, GUIDANCE AND 
CONDITIONS FOR PRIVATE HIRE AND 

TAXIS OPERATING WITHIN THE BOROUGH 
OF CHELTENHAM

All enquiries should be directed to:

Licensing Section
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
CHELTENHAM
GL50 9SA 
Tel: 01242 262626
E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk
Website: www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

This Policy was approved on xx

Page 41

file:///C:/Users/louis.krog/AppData/Roaming/Microsoft/Word/licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk
http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/


2

Table of Contents

Page
Introduction

Part 1 – Drivers Licences
New Driver Applications
Driver Renewal Applications

Part 2 – Vehicle Licences
Hackney Carriage Vehicles
Licensing a New Hackney Carriage Vehicle
Replacing a Licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicle
Renewing a Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence
Transferring a Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence

Private Hire Vehicles
Licensing a new Private Hire Vehicle / Replacing a Licensed Private 
Hire Vehicle
Renewing a Private Hire Vehicle Licence
Transferring a Private Hire Vehicle Licence
Other Matters Relating to all Licensed Vehicles

Part 3 – Operators

Appendix A - Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers
Appendix B - Specifications applicable to all vehicles
Appendix C - Specifications for Vehicles Made or Adapted for the 
Carriage of Wheelchairs
Appendix D - Conditions attached to a Private Hire and Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle Proprietors Licence
Appendix E - Advertising on Licensed Vehicles
Appendix F - Exemption from Requirement to Display 
Identification Plates and Signs (Private Hire Vehicles Only)
Appendix G - Intended Use Policy for the Licensing of Hackney 
Carriages
Appendix H - Private Hire Operator’s Licence Conditions 
Appendix I - Diabetes Policy
Appendix J - Relevance of Convictions, Cautions and Fixed 
Penalty Notices in Relation to the Licensing of Drivers and 
Operators
Appendix K – Three Strikes Policy 
Appendix L - Code of Good Practice for Licensed Drivers’ 
Working Practices

3

8
11

12
14
15
17

18

19
20
22

26

28
30
34

36

40
42

45

48
50
52

Page 42



3

Introduction
The Council has the responsibility to regulate and control all operators, drivers and 
vehicles used for carrying passengers for hire and reward within the Borough under 
the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  This Policy will provide guidance to applicants 
and other interested parties, officers and Members on the approach the Council will 
take on Taxi and Private Hire licensing matters.  

In formulating this policy, reference has been made to:

a. The Department for Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best 
Practice Guide;

b. Cheltenham Borough Council’s priorities; and
c. Cheltenham Borough Council approved Enforcement Policy. 

1.1 Definitions

Throughout this document:

 ‘the Council’ means Cheltenham Borough Council and all its officers and 
committees.

 ‘Vehicle’ or ‘Licensed Vehicle’ means both a Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire vehicle.

 ‘the Guidance’ means the Department for Transport – Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance.

 ‘the Policy’ refers to the contents of this document.
 ‘DVLA’ refers to the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency.

1.2 Objectives

In setting out its policy, the Council seeks to promote the following objectives:

a. The protection of the public and public safety;
b. Cheltenham Borough Council’s priorities;
c. The establishment of a professional and respected licensed trade;
d. Access to an efficient and effective public transport service;
e. The protection of the environment.

The aim of the licensing process, in this context, is to regulate the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire trade in order to promote the above objectives.  

1.3 Equality and Diversity

The Council is committed to promoting equal treatment for all and will vigorously 
comply and promote all legislation that governs discrimination for race, age, sex, 
disability, religious beliefs and sexual orientation. The Council will make reasonable 
adjustments where necessary to assist service users who may have difficulties due 
to their disability or language.

Drivers of licensed vehicles however have to be able to communicate with their 
passengers, be able to understand instructions and requests and also be able to 
respond appropriately. It is therefore essential that drivers have a good 

Page 43



4

understanding and command of the English language which is the predominant 
language used in Cheltenham.

Drivers of licensed vehicles also have a responsibility to comply with the relevant 
equality and diversity legislation.

1.4 Status

In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council will 
have regard to the policy and the objectives set out above.

Notwithstanding the existence of the policy, each application or enforcement 
measure will be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the council to 
depart from the policy, clear and compelling reasons will be given for doing so in 
writing.

1.5 Implementation and Review

Policy Policy implementation date 
Mandatory WAVs policy for hackney 
carriages 

2021

Revised emissions policy 2021

Unless otherwise stated, new policies and procedures will take effect from on the 90th 
day after approval has been given and will affect all new applications.  The policies 
and procedures will affect current licence holders upon renewal of the respective 
licences.

The council will keep the policy under review and will consult where appropriate on 
proposed revisions. 

Upon implementation of the policy, the council requires licence holders to comply 
with its terms. Where it is not possible to immediately comply fully with any part of the 
policy, a written application will need to be made to the council who will consider the 
reasons given and agree an implementation date for that part.

From the date of effect the policy overrides and supersedes all existing policies in 
relation to private hire and taxi licensing.

1.6 Partnership Working

The Council will work in partnership with the following agencies and individuals to 
promote the licensing objectives:

a) Local licensed trade;
b) Police & Crime Commissioner;
c) Planning authority;
d) Local transport authorities and committees;
e) Local residents;
f)  Disability groups;
g)  Service users;
h) Other Local Authorities.

Page 44



5

1.7 Environmental Considerations

The council has set out in its corporate strategy a priority to reduce carbon emissions 
in the borough.  Air quality monitoring has identified that vehicle exhaust emissions 
are the principal source of air pollution, and this had resulted in the creation of an air 
quality management area (AQMA) within the Borough. The council is formulating an 
action to reduce NO2 levels in Cheltenham in partnership with Gloucestershire 
County Council. 

Taxi and private hire vehicles are an essential form of transport in Cheltenham.  
Many people depend on such vehicles for trips that buses or cars are incapable of 
making. They are able to achieve higher occupancy rates than a private car and so, 
to some extent, already play their part in helping to achieve environmental 
improvements in the borough. It is, however, clearly important that emissions from 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles are reduced as far as possible.

In support of the priority and strategies, is important that the most polluting vehicles 
are phased out of service whilst recognising that there is an impact on the use of 
natural resources to manufacture new ones.  

Page 45



6

Part 1 – Driver Licences
Driver Licences 

The council issues the following driver licences:

a) Private Hire; and
b) Hackney Carriage.

Licences are issued subject to proof of eligibility – driving licence, knowledge test, 
enhanced criminal records check, driving assessment, medical assessment and 
appropriate fee.

The statutory and practical criteria and qualifications for each licence are broadly 
identical and therefore this chapter will apply to all driver licences. However where 
differences exist between the licensing regimes reference will be made to it in this 
policy.

Term of Licence

The council will issue a standard 3 year driver’s licence for all drivers.

Licences and badges

Successful applicants will be issued with a licence certificate, in addition to which 
they will receive 2 driver badges displaying the licence holder’s name, licence 
number, photograph, the expiry date of the licence. One badge must be worn at all 
times when the driver is working and be clearly visible and the other must be 
displayed in the vehicle. 

Experience

A driver’s licence will not be granted unless the applicant has held a full UK driving 
licence (or recognised equivalent), for a minimum of 12 months prior to the 
application being made. The driving licence must be for the category of vehicle they 
will be licensed to drive, must have been free of convictions and endorsements for at 
least one year, and be valid for the entire duration of the period for which they will be 
licensed as a private hire or hackney carriage driver.

Fit & Proper Test 

When an application is made for a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire driver’s licence 
the council must be satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person and shall not 
license drivers unless they are satisfied of this. The onus is on the applicant to prove 
they are a fit and proper person, rather than for the council to prove that they are not.

Applications will be determined in line with the council’s policy relating to relevance of 
convictions Appendix J.
 
If there is sufficient evidence that a person is not fit and proper or if there are grounds 
to question or doubt the evidence provided, that could amount to good reason to 
refuse a licence.

Page 46



7

Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers

Once a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence has been granted, the 
licence holder will be subject to the council’s Code of Good Conduct for Licensed 
Drivers (Appendix A).

Duty to notify changes

Change of address
Licence holders must notify the council in writing within 7 days of any change of 
address.

Convictions / cautions / fixed penalty notices / criminal investigations 
Licence holders must notify the council in writing within 7 days if he or she is 
convicted or cautioned for an offence, receives a fixed penalty notice or is the subject 
of a criminal investigation.

Page 47



8

New Driver Applications

First Application Procedure
Applicants for a new driver’s licence must make their application electronically via the 
council’s website.

Fitness Criteria

Licence applicants will be required to:

a) Provide his or her original DVLA driving licence (or equivalent).The licence 
must have been held for at least 12 months, must cover the driver for the 
category of vehicle he or she will be driving, and must be valid for the entire 
duration of the period for which he or she is applying to be licensed. The 
driving licence must show that the applicant has had 12 months free of any 
driving offences at the time of making the application; 

b) Provide one passport sized, colour photograph of themselves; 
c) Provide the council with an enhanced criminal disclosure certificate issued by 

the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) dated no older than three months 
from the issue date. The council will also accept the DBS’s Update Service 
provided that the council has seen the most recent paper disclosure 
certificate;

d) Produce documentation demonstrating their right to work in UK (if applicable);
e) Submit a driving assessment pass certificate from a provider approved by the 

council;
f) Successfully pass a knowledge test; 
g) Submit an approved medical questionnaire completed by an appropriate 

medical practitioner and, if applicable, a diabetes declaration form; and 
h) Provide the council with at least one reference from the last local authority 

that issued you a licence (if applicable). 

The application will not be determined until all of the above have been successfully 
completed.

Note: the medical practitioner’s certificate and the criminal record disclosure 
certificate are valid for only 3 months, so if the application is not determined within 3 
months of those being issued, applicants will be required to reapply for those 
documents in order to continue with their application.

Criminal Record 

The applicant must declare any previous criminal convictions, cautions and/or fixed 
penalty notices received, including those awaiting appeal, and any charges pending. 

The council will make a decision as to the relevance of convictions, cautions, charges 
and fixed penalty notices in accordance with its policy (Appendix J). The Council 
may require further information from the Police or Crown Prosecution Service. 
Applicants who have previous criminal convictions, cautions, fixed penalty notices or 
charges pending will be interviewed and details of that interview may be included in 
any report which is referred to the Licensing Committee.  

Failure to disclose or declare any previous convictions, cautions, fixed penalty 
notices or pending charges maybe construed as an attempt to deceive and 

Page 48



9

appropriate and proportionate action will be taken.  It is an offence to knowingly or 
recklessly make a false statement or to omit information required by the Council by 
virtue of s.57 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

Foreign Nationals

Foreign applicants will be required to provide documentary evidence of their right to 
work in the UK.  For the avoidance of doubt foreign applicants are applicants who 
require a permit or visa in order to reside or work in the UK.

The applicant may be required to submit additional information with their application 
e.g. verifiable references from former employers and persons in positions of trust, 
which may demonstrate that they are a fit and proper person.   

Applicants must produce all documents together with a certified English translation of 
each document where applicable.

Medical Assessment

In line with DVSA recommendations, the council has adopted the Group 2 driver 
standard for medical fitness of Hackney and Private Hire drivers which is outlined in 
the “Medical Aspects of Fitness to Drive” published by the Medical Commission 
Accident Prevention in 1995. 

This is a higher medical standard than that required of drivers of other motor vehicles 
and is required due to the length of time the driver may spend at the wheel and the 
responsibility they have for the safety of their passengers and the public.

Upon an initial application for a driver’s licence, the applicant shall produce a medical 
form completed by the applicant’s own doctor or a doctor with access to the 
applicant’s medical history.

If the medical practitioner has not had access to the applicant’s full medical records, 
the Council may require more frequent medical testing and/or select a practitioner to 
undertake a full medical examination of the applicant.  All costs are payable by the 
applicant.

All drivers over the age of 65 will be required to produce a completed medical 
certificate annually.

Each case will be treated on its individual merit.  The council may require the 
applicant to undertake a medical examination by an independent consultant if it 
believes it necessary, the costs of which will be met by the applicant.

Please see Appendix I for the Council’s policy on drivers and applicants with 
diabetes.

Knowledge Test

In order to take the test applicants must produce photographic identification in the 
form of a passport or full photographic driving licence. 

The fee for the test must be paid no later than 48 hours prior to the test date.  Failure 
to pay will result in a booking being cancelled.

Page 49



10

If a licensed private hire driver wishes to apply to become a hackney carriage driver, 
they must take the hackney carriage driver knowledge test.

Driver assessment

Applicants will be required to successfully pass a driving assessment for hackney 
carriage and private hire drivers from a provider approved by the council..

Page 50



11

Driver Renewal Applications
Holders of existing driver’s licences must apply to renew their licence as early as 
possible prior to the expiry of the previous licence. The council has no duty to notify 
drivers that their licence is due for renewal as it is the licence holder’s responsibility 
to renew their licence.

Renewal applications must be submitted electronically via the council’s website.

To complete an application an applicant must: 

a) Provide their original DVSA driving licence (or equivalent); 
b) Provide one passport sized, colour photograph of themselves; 
c) Provide the council with an enhanced criminal disclosure certificate issued by 

the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) dated no older than three months 
from the issue date. The council will also accept the DBS’s Update Service 
provided that the council has seen the most recent paper disclosure 
certificate;

d) Submit an approved medical questionnaire completed by an appropriate 
medical practitioner and, if applicable, a diabetes declaration form; 

e) Return both existing driver badges;

If details of new convictions, cautions, fixed penalty notices or charges are received 
during the renewal process, the application will be dealt with on its merits according 
to the policy on the relevance of convictions (Appendix J).

Failure to disclose or declare any previous convictions, cautions, fixed penalty 
notices or pending charges maybe construed as an attempt to deceive and 
appropriate and proportionate action will be taken.  It is an offence to knowingly or 
recklessly make a false statement or to omit information required by the Council by 
virtue of s.57 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

The council may at any time refer a decision to renew a driver’s licence to the 
Licensing Committee.

Page 51



12

Part 2 – Vehicle Licences

Hackney Carriage Vehicles

Licensing a New Hackney Carriage Vehicle
From 2021 all licensed hackney carriage vehciles must be wheelchair 
accessable.

Limitation of Numbers

The council does not impose restrictions on the number of hackney carriage vehicles. 

The following requirements are applicable to all applications for new hackney 
carriage vehicle licences. The vehicle must: 

a) Be disabled accessible as per London Public Carriage Office Specification, 
Eurocab M1 Specification or such other nationally accepted specification as is 
agreed by the Council; (see Appendix C)

b) Be silver in colour (as identified on the vehicle’s registration document);
c) Be less than 5 years from date of manufacture; 
d) Comply with vehicle specifications (see Appendix B);
e) Be fitted with an approved roof sign bearing the word “TAXI”;
f) Be compliant with the council’s emission standards;
g) Be fitted with a meter of an approved type with the fares charged as 

determined by the Council.

General conditions are attached to a hackney carriage vehicle proprietor’s licence.  
These are attached at Appendix D.

To make an application an applicant must:

a) Arrange for the vehicle to be tested at a designated testing station;
b) Submit an application form along with the following documents:

 Vehicle fitness test pass certificate; 
 MOT pass certificate;
 Hackney carriage meter test certificate less than 1 month old;
 Vehicle registration document (V5 / log-book) in the applicant’s name or 

documentary proof of purchase identifying the applicant as the purchaser of 
the vehicle;

 Appropriate valid certificate of motor insurance for the vehicle which must 
include cover for public hire / hackney carriage work (annual policies only);  

Only when all the documents required for licensing the vehicle have been received 
will the application be accepted and the licence will be granted, if satisfactory, upon 
receipt of the appropriate fee.

Where an applicant is unable to produce vehicle registration document (V5) this will 
not prevent the application being considered but the V5 must be produced within 28 
days of the application being made.

Page 52



13

Replacing a Licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicle
From 2021 all licensed hackney carriage vehicles must be wheelchair 
accessable.

The following requirements are applicable to all applications for replacement 
Hackney Carriage vehicle licences. The vehicle must: 

a) Be disabled accessible as per London Public Carriage Office Specification, 
Eurocab M1 Specification or such other nationally accepted specification as is 
agreed by the Council (from 2021);

b) Be silver in colour (as identified on the vehicle’s registration document);
c) Be less than 5 years from date of manufacture; 
d) Comply with vehicle specifications (see Appendix B);
e) Be fitted with an approved roof sign bearing the word “TAXI”;
f) Be compliant with the council’s emission standards;
g) Be fitted with a meter of an approved type with the fares charged as 

determined by the Council.

General conditions are attached to a Hackney Carriage vehicle proprietor’s licence.  
These are attached at Appendix D.

To make an application an applicant must:

a) Arrange for the vehicle to be tested at the designated testing station;
b) Submit an application form along with the following documents:

 Vehicle fitness test pass certificate; 
 MOT pass certificate;
 Hackney Carriage meter test certificate less than 1 month old;
 Vehicle registration document (V5 / log-book) in the applicant’s name or 

documentary proof of purchase identifying the applicant as the purchaser of 
the vehicle;

 Appropriate valid certificate of motor insurance for the vehicle which must 
include cover for public hire / Hackney Carriage work (annual policies only).  

Only when all the documents required for licensing the vehicle have been received 
will the application be accepted and the licence will be granted, if satisfactory, upon 
receipt of the appropriate fee.

Where an applicant is unable to produce vehicle registration document (V5) this will 
not prevent the application being considered but the V5 must be produced within 28 
days of the application being made.

Page 53



14

Renewing a Hackney Carriage Vehicle licence
From 2021 all licensed hackney carriage vehicles must be wheelchair 
accessable. 

Applicants are reminded that it is their responsibility to renew their licence prior to its 
expiry.  The council has no duty to notify licence holders that their licence is due for 
renewal, but as a courtesy and part of the council’s customer service, reminders will 
be sent approximately four to six weeks in advance of the expiry of the licence.

As soon as the renewal notice is received it is recommended that applicants make an 
appointment to have their vehicles tested at the vehicle testing station.

Renewal applications must be submitted electronically via the council’s website.

To apply to renew a licence an applicant must:

a) Arrange for the vehicle to be tested at the designated testing station;
b) Submit the renewal application form along with the following documents:

 Vehicle fitness test pass certificate; 
 MOT pass certificate;
 Hackney Carriage meter test certificate less than 1 month old;
 Vehicle registration document (V5 / log-book) in the applicant’s name or 

documentary proof of purchase identifying the applicant as the purchaser of 
the vehicle;

 Appropriate valid certificate of motor insurance for the vehicle which must 
include cover for public hire / Hackney Carriage work (annual policies only);

 Current vehicle licence plate and window badge. 

Only when all the documents required for licensing the vehicle have been received 
will the application be accepted and the licence will be granted, if satisfactory, upon 
receipt of the appropriate fee.

Vehicle age and emission standards

Licensed vehicles that comply with the council’s accessibility (i.e. are wheelchair 
accessible) and emissions policy will continue to be licensed for up to a maximum of 
10 years from the date on which the vehicle was first registered under the Vehicle 
and Excise Registration Act 1994.

Subject to the table below, licensed vehicles that are either not compliant with the 
council’s accessibility policy or its emissions policy will continue to be licensed until 
2021 after which time they will be required to be replaced for a vehicle that complies 
with the council’s accessibility and emissions policy.

Licensed vehicles will continue to be licensed in accordance with the table below.

Date of manufacture Continued to be licensed until:
2005 2019
2006 2020
2007 - 2011 2021

Page 54



15

Liquid petroleum gas (LPG) conversions to vehicles licensed or to be licensed by the 
Council are acceptable. Any conversion to LPG must be done by an approved 
converter and the conversion certificate produced to the Council for inspection. 
Vehicles must however still comply with the minimum luggage capacity and any 
spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location that does not impinge 
on the passenger-carrying area of a vehicle.

Testing of Older Vehicles

Vehicles over 8 years of age will be subject to 6 monthly fitness inspections. This 
means that on grant or renewal of a licence, if the vehicle is aged more than 8 years 
from the date of manufacture, a condition will be applied to the licence requiring the 
Council's approved vehicle fitness test to be carried out and passed no later than 6 
months after the grant of the licence.

For the avoidance of doubt, where the date of manufacture is unrecorded, the date of 
first registration (shown on the log book) will be taken to be the date of manufacture 
as long as the log book shows that the vehicle was declared new at first registration.

Page 55



16

Private Hire Vehicles

Licensing a New Private Hire Vehicle / Replacing a 
Licensed Private Hire Vehicle

Limitation of Numbers

No power exists to limit the number of Private Hire vehicles that can be licensed by 
the Council. 

The following requirements are applicable to all applications for new and 
replacement Private Hire Vehicle licences. The vehicle must: 

a) Be any colour other than silver (as identified on the vehicle’s registration 
document);

b) Be less than 5 years from date of manufacture; 
c) Comply with vehicle specifications (see Appendix B);

General conditions are attached to a Private Hire Vehicle proprietor’s licence.  These 
are attached at Appendix D.

Executive hire Private Hire vehicles may apply to be exempted from the requirement 
to display a licence plate and the driver from wearing a driver’s badge. The policy in 
relation to this exemption is at Appendix F.

To make an application to license a new Private Hire vehicle, an applicant must:

a) Arrange for the vehicle to be tested at the designated testing station;
b) Submit an application form along with the following documents:

 Vehicle fitness test pass certificate; 
 MOT pass certificate;
 Vehicle registration document (V5 / log-book) in the applicant’s name or 

documentary proof of purchase identifying the applicant as the purchaser of 
the vehicle;

 Appropriate valid certificate of motor insurance for the vehicle which must 
include cover for Private Hire work (annual policies only);  

Only when all the documents required for licensing the vehicle have been received 
will the application be accepted and the licence will be granted, if satisfactory, upon 
receipt of the appropriate fee.

Where an applicant is unable to produce the vehicle registration document (V5) this 
will not prevent the application being considered but the V5 must be produced within 
28 days of the application being made.

Page 56



17

Renewing a Private Hire Vehicle licence
Applicants are reminded that it is their responsibility to renew their licence prior to its 
expiry.  The council has no duty to notify licence holders that their licence is due for 
renewal, but as a courtesy and part of the council’s customer service, reminders will 
be sent approximately four to six weeks in advance of the expiry of the licence.

As soon as the renewal notice is received it is recommended that applicants make an 
appointment to have their vehicles tested at the vehicle testing station.

Renewal applications must be submitted electronically via the council’s website.

To apply to renew a licence an applicant must:

a) Arrange for the vehicle to be tested at the designated testing station;
b) Submit the renewal application form along with the following documents:

 Vehicle fitness test pass certificate; 
 MOT pass certificate;
 Vehicle registration document (V5 / log-book) in the applicant’s name or 

documentary proof of purchase identifying the applicant as the purchaser of 
the vehicle;

 Appropriate valid certificate of motor insurance for the vehicle which must 
include cover for Private Hire work (annual policies only);  

 Current vehicle licence plate and window badge. 

Only when all the documents required for licensing the vehicle have been received 
will the application be accepted and the licence will be granted, if satisfactory, upon 
receipt of the appropriate fee.

Vehicle age and emission standards

Licensed vehicles will continue to be licensed in accordance with the table below.

Date of Manufacture Continued to be Licensed until:
2005 2019
2006 2020
2007 - 2011 2021

Liquid petroleum gas (LPG) conversions to vehicles licensed or to be licensed by the 
council are acceptable. Any conversion to LPG must be done by an approved 
converter and the conversion certificate produced to the council for inspection. 

Vehicles must however still comply with the minimum luggage capacity and any 
spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location that does not impinge 
on the passenger-carrying area of a vehicle.

The council has an emission standards policy for licensed vehicles requiring vehicle 
proprietors to meet a specific level within the standard by a set date. 

Testing of Older Vehicles

Vehicles over 8 years of age will be subject to 6 monthly fitness inspections. This 
means that on grant or renewal of a licence, if the vehicle is aged more than 8 years 

Page 57



18

from the date of manufacture, a condition will be applied to the licence requiring the 
Council's approved vehicle fitness test to be carried out and passed no later than 6 
months after the grant of the licence.

For the avoidance of doubt, where the date of manufacture is unrecorded, the date of 
first registration (shown on the log book) will be taken to be the date of manufacture 
as long as the log book shows that the vehicle was declared new at first registration.

Page 58



19

Other Matters Relating to all Licensed Vehicles
Licence Plates & Signs

All Vehicles

At all times while the vehicle is being used as a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
vehicle there shall be securely fixed, externally to the rear, the appropriate vehicle 
licence plate supplied by the Council, except when permission has been granted by 
the Council (see Appendix F). 

All identification plates, stickers and badges issued to the licence holder by the 
council, shall remain the property of the council.

At all times while the vehicle is being used as either a Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire vehicle there shall be displayed on the windscreen the appropriate vehicle 
window badge supplied by the council.

No smoking signs

All vehicles must display ‘no smoking’ signs supplied by the council. The signs must 
be displayed in the 3 side passengers windows, facing outside and clearly visible.  

Private Hire vehicles only

All Private Hire vehicles must display two approved stickers stating “Advanced 
Booking Only”, supplied by the council to be affixed to the rear passenger nearside 
and offside windows.

Roof signs (top-lights)

Hackney Vehicles

Hackney Carriage vehicles must be fitted with an illuminated external sign, of a 
design approved by the council, on the roof of the vehicle showing the word “TAXI” 
on both the front and rear of the sign and the licence number on all four sides of the 
sign. 

Vehicles with built-in roof signs must display the word “TAXI”. 

On licensed vehicles the roof light must be extinguished when the fare meter is in 
use.

The roof sign must be adequately secured to the vehicle to prevent it becoming 
dislodged.

Minibuses, transits and people carrier type vehicles which are not fitted with an 
approved roof sign, as indicated above, shall have the word “Taxi” in letters of 
between 25cm (9.85 inches) and 30 cm (11.9 inches) in height displayed on the front 
and rear of the vehicles so that they can be clearly identified as a Hackney Carriage 
vehicle.

Page 59



20

Private Hire Vehicles

A Private Hire vehicle must not carry any roof sign or any markings that might give 
the impression that it is a Hackney Carriage. 

Meters

Hackney Carriages

A taximeter must be fitted in all licensed Hackney Carriages and must be correctly 
calibrated, sealed and fully functional in accordance with the current council 
approved fare structure and easily visible to passengers.

The taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals 
or other appliances, so as not to be practicable for any person to tamper with them 
except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other 
appliances.

The taximeter shall be positioned so that all letters and figures on the face thereof 
may be at all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle. The 
display of the taximeter shall be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of the 
hiring which is during the hours of darkness and also at any time at the request of the 
hirer.

When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of the meter in 
clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may be charged 
for a journey.

An official copy of the council’s fare chart shall be clearly displayed in the vehicle so 
as to be plainly visible to passengers carried therein.

The vehicle taximeter shall be brought into operation at the commencement of the 
journey and the fare demanded by the driver shall not be greater than that fixed by 
the council in connection with the hire of Hackney Carriages. In the event of such a 
journey commencing in but ending outside the Borough there may be charged for the 
journey such fare or rate of fare, if any, as was agreed before the hiring was effected, 
if no such agreement was made then the fare to be charged should be no greater 
than that fixed by the council in connection with the hire of Hackney Carriages.

Private Hire Vehicles

Private hire vehicles may be fitted with a calendar-controlled taximeter. Any taximeter 
fitted to a private hire vehicle must comply with those conditions and requirements 
set out above, which appertain to such meters when fitted in Hackney Carriage 
vehicles, with the exception of the requirement that the meter must only display the 
approved fares.

Manufacturer’s Recall of Motor Vehicles

If a manufacturer of a motor vehicle has cause to recall vehicles due to safety 
concerns the proprietors of licensed vehicles will ensure that the vehicle is repaired 
as expediently as possible.  The documentary evidence showing the fault(s) has 
been corrected should be retained by the proprietor of the vehicle for production to 
the Council if required.

Page 60



21

In the event that the fault is of a nature causing safety concerns, it may be necessary 
for the vehicle licence to be suspended until such time as the proprietor provides 
documentation to show that the vehicle is safe.

Trailers

Trailers may only be used subject to the following requirements:

(i) Trailers can only be used in connection with private hire/advance bookings and 
cannot be used for plying for hire on a rank,

(ii) The trailer must at all times comply with all requirements of Road Traffic 
legislation in particular those as laid down in the Road Vehicles (Construction and 
Use) Regulations 1986,

(iii) The vehicle insurance must include cover for towing a trailer, 

(iv) Trailers must not be left unattended anywhere on the highway,

(v) The speed restrictions applicable to trailers must be observed at all times,

(vi) A suitable lid or other approved means of enclosure shall be fitted to secure and 
cover the contents of the trailer whenever in use,

(vii) Trailers must undergo the Council’s inspection and licensing regime,

Communication Devices

All radio equipment fitted to the vehicle must be fitted securely and safely and in 
accordance with guidelines published by Ofcom.

Only one two-way radio with a single operator frequency may be operational in the 
vehicle at any one time and this shall be an approved radio used exclusively for the 
Hackney Carriage or Private Hire trade and licensed with an effective radio power 
(ERP) not exceeding 25 watts.

CCTV in vehicles

The Taxi and Private Hire trades are encouraged to build good links with the local 
police force, including participation in any Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships.

Any vehicle with CCTV must display a sign advising passengers that a CCTV system 
is in operation in the vehicle.

The CCTV recording must be available for viewing by a Police Officer or Authorised 
Council Officer on request. Any failure to comply with this request may be reported to 
the Council for consideration of the appropriate action to be taken.

Further information on CCTV can be found on the Information Commissioners 
website at http://ww.ico.gov.uk.    

Page 61

http://ww.ico.gov.uk/


22

Vehicle Testing Arrangements

All vehicles will be tested in accordance with the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicles National Inspection Standards in conjunction with the current VOSA MOT 
inspection manual. 

All Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles regardless of age will be subject to 
the vehicle fitness test and the MOT certificate will be issued as a matter of courtesy 
and convenience for the driver.

Page 62



23

Part 3 - Operators
Requirements and Obligations

Any person who operates Private Hire vehicles must apply to the council for a Private 
Hire operator’s licence. 

The objective when licensing Private Hire operators is ensuring the protection of the 
public who will be using the operator’s premises and the vehicles and drivers 
arranged through them.

A Private Hire vehicle may only be dispatched to a customer by a Private Hire 
operator who holds an operator’s licence. Such a licence permits the operator to 
make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a Private Hire vehicle.

A Private Hire operator must ensure that every Private Hire vehicle dispatched by 
him is licensed and driven by a person who holds a Private Hire driver’s licence. All 
three licences (operator, vehicle and driver) must be issued by the same licensing 
authority.

It is a criminal offence to operate a Private Hire vehicle without an operator’s licence.

Licence Duration

Operators licences will be issued for a standard 5 year period. However the council 
will have the power to grant a licence for a shorter period should this be appropriate 
in the circumstances.

If an operator changes his name or address s/he must notify the council immediately.

Criminal Record 

The applicant must declare any previous criminal convictions, cautions and fixed 
penalty notices received, including those awaiting appeal, and any charges pending. 

The council will make a decision as to the relevance of convictions, cautions, charges 
and fixed penalty notices in accordance with its policy (Appendix J). The council 
may require further information from the Police or Crown Prosecution Service. 
Applicants who have previous criminal convictions, cautions, fixed penalty notices or 
charges pending will be interviewed and details of that interview may be included in 
any report which is referred to the Licensing Committee.  

Failure to disclose or declare any previous convictions, cautions, fixed penalty 
notices or pending charges maybe construed as an attempt to deceive and 
appropriate and proportionate action will be taken.  

Address from which an Operator may operate
   
Applicants must specify the address from which they will operate. These premises 
must be in the Borough of Cheltenham and will be expected to have planning 
consent for use as a Private Hire office.

If an operator wishes to change the base from which they operate they will be 
required to submit a new application.

Page 63



24

Application Procedure

Applications must be submitted electronically via the council’s website.

To complete an application an applicant must: 

a) Complete an standard criminal disclosure (DBS) form and produce at least 3 
forms of valid identification as required by the DBS (note: a fee is payable for 
the DBS check). A DBS check may not be necessary if the applicant has 
registered for the DBS Update Service and provides evidence to that effect;

b) Provide evidence of appropriate public liability insurance, if the premises are 
open to the public; 

c) Pay the appropriate fee.

The application will not be determined until all of the above have been provided and 
the DBS criminal record disclosure certificate has been produced by the applicant. 

Planning Consent

Applicants are advised to obtain planning consent for the premises. If the planning 
consent is time restricted it is the operator’s responsibility to ensure that a new 
permission is applied for prior to the current planning permission expiring. 

Officers may require a site visit prior to the determination of the licence.

Conditions

The Council has power to impose such conditions on an operator’s licence as it 
considers reasonably necessary. Appendix H sets out the conditions to be attached 
to an operator’s licence which cover the standards of service expected.

Page 64



25

Appendix A - Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers
The Council has adopted the following Code of Good Conduct, which should be read 
in conjunction with the other statutory and policy requirements set out in this 
document.  This is promoted in conjunction with the Codes Of Practice in relation to 
targeting crime in Cheltenham and reducing crime and disorder.

Codes of Practice in Relation to Targeting Crime in Cheltenham, Reducing 
Crime and Disorder

Licence holders shall:-

a) Always be polite and courteous to all members of the public, avoiding the use 
of bad language, even when provoked;

b) Ensure that where an incident occurs requiring the attendance of Police, that 
the Police are promptly alerted so that the offender may be dealt with in an 
appropriate manner;

c) Make themselves available to Police for the taking of statements etc following 
any incident in which they are involved and which requires Police 
investigation;

d) Will not refuse a fare, unless they have reasonable cause to do so;
e) NOT attempt to ‘detain’ passengers in the vehicle following a non-payment, to 

prevent possible allegations of kidnap, assault etc.;
f) Consider installing CCTV their vehicle;
g) Consider a small lockable safe in the boot of each vehicle for use of placing 

cash to reduce the amounts held by each individual;
h) Ensure that where practical that they check for left property after every fare 

and in any case at the conclusion of their duty.
i) Take proper care of any property left by passengers in the vehicle and take 

steps to assist in its return to the owner or to hand it in at the police station;
j) Seek to develop a good rapport and working relationship with all other 

members of the night-time economy, including the emergency services and 
Taxi Marshalls;

k) Ensure when dropping off ‘vulnerable’ passengers at night that they wait until 
they can confirm that the person is safe before driving off. ‘

l) Consider operating a ‘buddy’ system with another driver or group of drivers to 
provide mutual support and conduct regular safety checks, particularly at 
night.

m) Drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians 
n) Obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all time;
o) Not consume alcohol or misuse drugs (legal or illegal) immediately before or 

at any time whilst driving or being in charge of a hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle;

p) Fulfil their responsibility to ensure compliance with legislation regarding the 
length of working hours.

Responsibility to Passengers

Licence holders shall:-

a) Maintain the vehicle in a safe, clean and satisfactory condition at all times;
b) Attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hiring;
c) Assist, where necessary, passengers into and out of vehicles;
d) Offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage;

Page 65



26

e) Take the most time efficient route, bearing in mind traffic problems, and 
known diversions, and explain any diversion from the main route;

f) If a taximeter is fitted, use the meter at all times;
g) When using the meter, do not start the meter until the passenger is seated in 

the vehicle;
h) If a hackney carriage is travelling outside the licensed area, agree the fare in 

advance. If no fare has been negotiated in advance for a journey going 
beyond the licensed area, then the driver must adhere to the meter;

i) Private hire drivers will ensure the passenger has pre booked and agrees to 
the fare before setting out.

Responsibility to Residents

To avoid nuisance to residents when picking up or waiting for a fare, a driver shall:-

a) Not sound the vehicle’s horn between 2330 hours and 0700 hours;
b) Keep the volume of any sound reproducing equipment (e.g. radio) to a 

minimum;, 
c) Switch off the engine if required to wait.
d) When parked at Private Hire offices or elsewhere, take whatever steps are 

necessary to avoid disturance to residents.

At Taxi ranks and other places where Taxis ply for hire by forming queues, drivers 
shall, in addition to the requirements above:-

a) Park in an orderly manner and proceed along the designated rank in order 
and promptly;

b) Remain in the vehicle.

Drivers’ Dress Code  

In order to raise the profile of the licensed trade, drivers should operate at all times in 
a professional manner and conform to minimum standard of dress and personal 
hygiene. 

The following are deemed unacceptable:-

a) Clothing not kept in a clean condition or which is torn or damaged;
b) Words or graphics on any clothing that is of an offensive or suggestive nature 

or which might offend;
c) Sportswear (e.g. football/rugby kits, track suits, beach wear etc.);
d) Sandals with no heel straps, flip flops or any other form of footwear not 

secured around the heel;
e) Drivers not having either the top or bottom half of their bodies suitably 

clothed;
f) Shorts, other than tailored shorts;
g) Very short skirts.

Page 66



27

Appendix B – Specifications applicable to all vehicles
Minimum Interior Dimensions

The following minimum dimensions are applicable to both Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicles.

Proprietors should bear in mind that the manufacturers’ claimed seating capacity may 
not always be the same as the Council's licensed seating capacity scheme as 
detailed below. 

Height - From the top of the seat cushions to the roof at the lowest part (inside) must 
not be less than 865 mm (34 inches approx.) 

Seat Depth - fixed passenger seats (measured from the back of the seat to the front 
edge of the seat cushion) must be no less than 406 mm (16 inches approx.) 

Seat Width - fixed passenger seats (measured along the front edge of the seat) must 
allow at least 406 mm (16 inches approx.) per person. There must also be a 
minimum of 1371mm (54 inches) between the inner door handles.

Legroom – each passenger seat shall provide sufficient legroom for passengers to 
be seated in comfort. 

Facing seats - the distance between the seat backs measured in a horizontal plane 
along the top surface of the seating cushion must be not less than 1300 mm (51 
inches approx.). The distance between the front edges of the seat cushions must be 
not less than 425 mm (16 ¾ inches approx.).

Type Approval

All vehicles should have an appropriate ‘type approval’ which is either:

a. European Whole Vehicle Type approval;
b. British National Type approval; or
c. British Single Vehicle Approval (SVA).

Specialist vehicles or any vehicle that has been structurally modified, converted or 
imported from a non-EU State since its original manufacture will require separate 
SVA and/or Department for Transport approval and this documentation must be 
submitted with an application.

Wheels

All vehicles must have four road wheels fitted.

Right hand drive

All vehicles, with the exception of stretch limousines, must be right-hand drive.

Tinted Windows

In the interest of public safety vehicles with tinted windows will not be licensed other 
than where the tinting is factory-fitted standard.  

Page 67



28

Doors

All saloons, estates or purpose built taxi vehicles shall have at least 4 doors, which 
may be opened from the inside and the outside.

All vehicles shall be constructed so that the doors open sufficiently wide as to allow 
easy access into and egress from the vehicle.

All vehicles, including larger passenger vehicles (multi-purpose vehicles), must have 
sufficient safe and suitable access and egress from the vehicle for the driver and all 
passengers. 

Seats

Access to every passenger seat must be unobstructed and be easily accessible to 
passengers and without the need for more than one passenger to move. 

Head rests must be fitted to all forward or rear facing seats. 

Passenger capacity

All vehicles must be capable of carrying a minimum of 4 or a maximum of 8 adult 
passengers in safety and comfort. 

Seat Belts

All vehicles must be fitted with fully operational rear seat belts, one for each 
passenger to be carried, fully compliant with British Standards except where the law 
specifically provides an exemption.

First Aid Kit & Fire Extinguisher 

Each vehicle should have a readily available and accessible first aid kit at all times 
when the vehicle is used for hire, a suitable First Aid Kit, bearing the registered 
number of the vehicle, containing appropriate dressings and appliances for 
immediate use in an emergency. All items should be serviceable.  

First Aid kits must comply with European and British Standards and it is the 
responsibility of the driver to ensure the contents of the kit comply with the relevant 
standards.
     
A fire extinguisher shall also be provided which is readily accessible and complies 
with relevant BS or EN codes.

Ventilation 

Windows must be provided at the rear and sides along with means of opening and 
closing not less than one window on either side. 

All passenger windows must be capable of being opened by passengers when 
seated. 

Page 68



29

Luggage

Adequate storage for passenger luggage separated from the passenger 
compartment without obstructing any emergency exits must be available. 
Luggage carried must be suitably secured in place.

Condition and Maintenance

The interior and exterior of the vehicle shall be maintained in a clean, safe and 
proper manner to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority and without prejudice to 
the foregoing. In particular the exterior of the vehicle shall be free of large dents, rust 
or unrepaired accident damage and shall at all times have uniform paintwork 
equivalent to that applied by the manufacturer. The interior shall be free of all stains, 
splits, and tears and the seats shall be required to function in accordance with the 
original manufacturer’s specification.

Vehicles shall be liable to be inspected and tested at any time. If upon inspection it is 
discovered that a vehicle is not being properly maintained, or kept in good order, a 
notice may be served on the owner to this effect, setting out the defects to be 
remedied. If public safety is compromised by the defects, the further use of the 
vehicle may be prohibited until the defects have been addressed and the vehicle has 
successfully undergone a further inspection.

Modifications 

No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance 
of the vehicle may be made without first complying with road traffic and insurance 
legislation and securing the prior approval of the Council, at any time while the 
licence is in force. 

Advertising

Please see policy attached at Appendix F.

Special Event Private Hire Vehicles

A special event Private Hire vehicle is a vehicle used as a Private Hire car for special 
journeys, for example a stretch Limousine.

Most special event vehicles, in particular limousines, are imported for commercial 
purposes and are required to take a single vehicle type approval (SVA) test. This 
ensures that the vehicles meet modern safety standards and environmental 
standards before being used on public roads. 

The Council will consider licensing a stretch Limousine on its individual merits and 
providing it meets the following criteria, in addition to those criteria applicable to all 
private hire vehicles:

a) It has fewer than 9 passenger seats and 
b) It has been subjected to a Single Vehicle Type Approval (SVA) inspection or 

an Individual Vehicle Approval Scheme (IVA) inspection.
c) Evidence of the inspection must be presented in the form of a SVA or IVA 

Certificate or an appropriate endorsement of  the V5C Registration Certificate 
relating to SVA or IVA. 

Page 69



30

d) The vehicle complies with the Council’s applicable Private Hire vehicle testing 
standards. 

Page 70



31

Appendix C – Specifications for Vehicles Made or 
Adapted for the Carriage of Wheelchairs

Specification for New and Replacement Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles

The following specifications are in addition to the standard vehicle specifications 
contained in Appendix L. 

Access 

In the case of all vehicles which are built or adapted for disabled passengers, the 
design of the vehicle should ensure that any wheelchair is loaded from the side or the 
rear of the vehicle. 

Safety & Comfort

The vehicle must be capable of accommodating one or more wheelchairs in either a 
forward or rear facing position allowing adequate space to ensure the safety and 
comfort of the wheelchair user, and without interfering with the safety and comfort of 
any other passengers.

Vehicle Requirements

a) All vehicles will be licensed on their individual merit and designed or adapted 
to the per London Public Carriage Office Specification, Eurocab M1 
Specification or such other nationally accepted specification as is agreed by 
the Council.

b) Grab handles must be placed at at least one passenger door entrance.

c) The vertical distance between the highest part of the floor and the roof in the 
wheelchair passenger area must be no less than 1.3 metres.

d) The passenger entrances to the vehicle must be a minimum of 1.2 metres in 
height and 0.75 metres in width.

e) Approved anchorages must be provided for the wheelchair. These 
anchorages must be either chassis or floor linked and capable of withstanding 
approved dynamic or static tests. The anchorage must be of the 
manufacturer’s design and construction and secured in such a position as not 
to obstruct any emergency exit.

f) Restraints for the wheelchair and occupant must be independent of each 
other.

g) A single ramp must be of a suitable design to ensure that it does not slip or tilt 
when in use and provide a suitable gradient when in use. 

h) Each vehicle shall carry no more than 8 passengers which includes persons 
in wheelchairs.

i) Hydraulic lifts, if used, must have means of manual operation should power 
system fail.

Page 71



32

j) Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into 
the vehicle must have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the 
Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (S.I.1998/2307). 
Any such equipment must be maintained in good working order and be 
available for use at all times. 

k) All passenger seats to have three point lap fully operational diagonal 
seatbelts, one for each passenger carried, fully compliant with British 
Standards except where the law specifically exempts.

l) Rear doors to have mechanism to positively hold them open.

Conditions

In addition to standard conditions applicable to licensed vehicles (Appendix B), 
where a vehicle is utilised for the carriage of passengers in a wheelchair, the 
following conditions shall apply:

a) Access to and exit from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed in any 
manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus.

b) The access ramp or lifts to the vehicle must be securely fixed prior to use, 
and be able to support the wheelchair, occupant and helper, and 

c) The ramp and lifts must be securely stored in the vehicle before it may move 
off.

d) Where a vehicle is designed or adapted to carry a wheelchair, the proprietor 
shall ensure that the driver has received sufficient training to load and convey 
wheelchair bound passengers.

e) Lifting equipment test certificates must be presented to the Licensing 
Authority on first application and at six monthly intervals thereafter.

Page 72



33

Appendix D - Conditions attached to a Private Hire and 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Proprietors Licence

1. Standard Conditions 

1.1 Maintenance of Vehicle

The vehicle, all of its fittings and any attached equipment shall at all times when the 
vehicle is in use or available for hire, be kept in a clean, safe, tidy and efficient state, 
and must also comply with all relevant statutory provisions including in particular 
those contained in the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986.

1.2 Alteration of Vehicle

No material alteration or change to the vehicle, its fittings or any attached equipment 
shall be made without the prior approval of the Council.

1.3 Trailers & Towbars

Trailers must not be used without the consent of the Council.

The trailer shall display the appropriate registration plate fitted to the rear of the 
trailer.

A spare wheel tyre appropriate for the trailer must be carried when the vehicle is 
being used for public hire.

1.4 Identification Plates, Window Badges and Stickers – all vehicles

All licensed Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicles will be provided by the Council 
with the following identifying features:

 An approved licence plate identifying the vehicle as a Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire vehicle, which must be securely fixed externally to the rear of the 
vehicle in such a manner as to be easily removed if necessary by an 
authorised officer of the council or a police officer. 

 An approved window badge which must be displayed on the nearside of the 
windscreen of the vehicle in a prominent position so as to be clearly visible. 

 Three ‘no smoking’ signs.
 The signs must be displayed in the 3 side passengers windows, facing 

outside and clearly visible. 

All of the above must be maintained in a satisfactory condition at all times.

Any vehicle with CCTV must display a sign advising passengers that a CCTV system 
is in operation in the vehicle.

1.5 Additional markings applicable to Private Hire vehicles only

All licensed Private Hire vehicles will be provided by the Council with two stickers 
stating “Advanced Booking Only”. These must be affixed to the rear passenger 
nearside and offside windows.

Page 73



34

All Private Hire vehicles must display an approved roundel on the outside on both 
sides of the vehicle displaying the Private Hire Operator name, telephone number, 
company logo, email and/or website.

The Council can supply approved ‘Bus Lane’ stickers for Private Hire vehicles whose 
drivers wish to use the Borough’s bus lanes. The Council encourages Private Hire 
vehicles to display approved ‘Bus Lane’ stickers on the rear of the vehicle. 

1.6 Tyres

All tyres fitted to the vehicle or carried as a spare must comply with the Motor 
Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 and Motor Vehicle (Tests) 
Regulations 1981. 

Re-cut and Remoulded Tyres

Re-cut tyres are not acceptable for M1 passenger vehicles and remould tyres shall 
only be acceptable if they carry a recognised approval marking (currently BSAU144e) 
and display the following information clearly displayed on each tyre:

a) Nominal size;
b) Construction type (e.g. radial ply);
c) Load capacity; and
d) Speed capability

Space Saver Tyres

The carrying and use of Space saver tyres and tyre sealant kits will only be approved 
with the support of a method statement. The method statement will detail the drivers 
and vehicle owners responsibility with regard to the maximum permitted speed and 
restrictions of use and highlight that they are ONLY a temporary measure to 
complete the journey in which the puncture occurred. An approved repair to BS 
AU159 or a replacement tyre must be undertaken before any further fares are 
carried. 

Run flat tyres fitted to any vehicle by the manufacturer will not be replaced by any 
other type or make either individually or all of them. The use of these tyres must be 
supported by a method statement (such as the manufacturers handbook for the 
vehicle) specifying the capability and restrictions of use  following a puncture. In all 
cases the Tyre Pressure Monitoring System (TPMS) must be working correctly and if 
required, be reset when a tyre(s) are renewed ore replaced. Worn or damaged run 
flat tyres must be replaced by the same make and size.

1.7 Luggage Rack

A roof rack may only be used when excess luggage is to be carried and any luggage 
so carried shall be safely secured and shall not exceed such weight or size that as 
can safely be carried on the vehicle.

1.8 Change of Address

The proprietor shall notify the council in writing within seven days of any change of 
address during the period of the licence.

1.9 Accident Notification

Page 74



35

The proprietor shall notify the council in writing within 72 hours of any accident 
involving the vehicle.

1.10 Deposit of Driver’s Licence

If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle as a Taxi or 
Private Hire vehicle, the proprietor shall retain the person’s Taxi or Private Hire 
drivers licence until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to 
drive the vehicle.

1.11 Transfer of Interest

The proprietor shall notify the council in writing, giving the name and the address of 
the new proprietor, within 14 days if he transfers his interest in the vehicle to another 
person and pay the appropriate fee.

1.12 Additional Charges

The proprietor shall pay the council any reasonable additional charges to be 
determined by the council for the replacement of any lost, damaged or stolen plate, 
or sign provided by the council (and which is required to be attached or displayed on 
or in the vehicle as a condition of this licence).

1.13 Insurance

All vehicles must have a current, valid, annual policy of insurance at all times 
appropriate to the vehicle, the certificate for which must be carried in the vehicle at all 
times and be made available for inspection on request by any authorised officer of 
the Council or any Police Officer .

If a vehicle is off the road and uninsured the proprietor must advise the Licensing 
Team in writing immediately or in any event within 72 hours.

1.14 Smoking in Vehicles

The Health Act 2006 prohibits smoking in enclosed places, all licensed vehicles are 
designated as an enclosed public space and therefore it is unlawful for any person to 
smoke in a licensed vehicle at any time, including any time when it is not being used 
for hire. 

1.15 Unauthorised Use

The proprietor of a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage shall not allow the vehicle 
to be driven and used for hire by any person who does not hold a current Private Hire 
or Hackney Carriage driver’s licence, as appropriate, issued by the Council.

Page 75



36

Page 76



37

Appendix E – Advertising on Licensed Vehicles 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles

Required and Permitted Advertising

Third-party Advertising 

Third Party advertising is only permitted with prior written approval of the Council.

The following advertising will not be permitted:

a. Anything of a religious or political nature;
b. Alcohol or tobacco products;
c. Any matter of a sexual nature or likely to cause offence;
d. Any matter which is insulting, offensive or abusive.

The content of any advertising on the vehicle shall be legal, decent and truthful.

No words, letters or graphics may be displayed on any windows of the vehicle.

No advertisement will be permitted which impedes the vision of the driver.

The Council reserves the right to require the licensee to remove the advertisement 
from display on the vehicle if the content of the advertisement changes without 
written permission of the Council or for any reason affecting the appearance of the 
advertisement.

All materials used and affixed for advertising purposes on Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
must comply with current legislation which includes the Motor Vehicle (Construction 
and Use) Regulations and must not provide any risk of injury to drivers /passengers 
or pedestrians.

No secondary advertising of any kind will be permitted including the name of the 
company preparing the vehicle or the name of the advertising agency.

All advertisements must comply with the UK Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) 
Codes and it is the responsibility of the vehicle proprietor to ensure that they do so.

Advertising to do with crime and disorder or public safety issues such as advertising 
“Crime Stoppers” or Crime Prevention Matters will be permitted. 

Exterior Advertising

The following surfaces are permitted for the use of exterior advertising on licensed 
Hackney Carriages, subject to the requirements above:

Full livery - advertising material covering the complete exterior body shell of the 
vehicle

Supersides - advertising material covering the exterior doors and wings on both 
sides of the vehicle, excluding the window area

Doors only - advertising material covering the exterior lower panels of both doors on 
both sides of the vehicle

Page 77



38

Boot lid - advertising on the boot lid is permitted other than where it in any way 
obscures the licence plate.

Interior Advertising   

Advertising is not permitted on any interior surface other than on the base of the two 
lift up seats, if applicable.

Private Hire Vehicles

Required and Permitted Advertising

Private Hire Vehicles are required to display an approved roundel on the outside of 
both front doors beneath the window displaying the Private Hire Operator name, 
telephone number, company logo, email and/or website. 

Advertising of a Private Hire Operator’s Logo and contact details will be allowed on 
the rear tailgate of licensed private hire MPVs and on the rear most nearside and 
offside windows of licensed private hire estate vehicles in the form of small logos 
provided written application has been made to the licensing section. 

No vehicle may advertise an operator other than the one that has dispatched it.

No third-party advertising will be permitted on Private Hire vehicles other than 
advertising to do with crime and disorder or public safety issues such as “Crime 
Stoppers”. 

No advertisement will be permitted which impedes the vision of the driver.

Page 78



39

Appendix F - Exemption from Requirement to Display 
Identification Plates and Signs (Private Hire Vehicles 

Only)
Introduction and Statement of Intent

The aim of this part of the policy is to ensure public safety whilst taking a balanced 
approach to licensing requirements. Its objective is the provision of an exemption to 
allow ‘executive vehicles’ to operate without displaying external identification plates 
and other signage.

There are occasions when the requirement to display an external identification plate 
and other signage may have a negative effect in terms of commercial implications for 
the operating business. The display of a licence plate and other signage may deter 
some corporate customers from using the service and in some circumstances the 
identification of the vehicle as a licensed vehicle may allow “high risk” passengers to 
be more readily targeted putting both them and the driver at risk.

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the Council to 
exempt vehicles from the need to display an identification plate and, where that 
exemption applies, the requirement to wear a private hire driver’s badge.

Plate exemption will only be granted by the Council where there is a genuine 
operational reason and business requirement, and where the Council is certain that 
the safety of the public will not be compromised as a result.  For instance vehicles 
which convey passengers to and from airports may not be permitted the plate 
exemption.

Vehicle Requirements

The following vehicle requirements are in addition to the standard vehicle 
specification contained in Appendix L. 

1. Applications for exemption from displaying external identification plates and other 
signage may be made in respect of individual vehicles only.  Applications for 
exemptions relating to a fleet of vehicles will not be allowed.

2. Each application will be assessed on its own merit and each vehicle will be 
inspected by an authorised council officer to ensure that it is fit for purpose.

3. Applications for exemption from displaying external identification plates and other 
signage may be considered where the following requirements are met:-

a) Vehicles must be of a standard of comfort and equipped to a level equal to or 
above luxury brands of vehicles such as ‘S’ and ‘E’ Class Mercedes Benz, 7 
Series BMW, Lexus ‘GS’ or ‘LS’ models, Audi A8 series, Rolls Royce and 
Bentley saloons.  (The highest specification executive type cars from other 
manufacturers may also be considered.);

b) The vehicle will be in pristine condition with no visible defects, dents or 
blemishes to the external bodywork or internal trim and seating;

c) The type of work undertaken must be ‘Executive’ in nature.  This means that 
the vehicle is used specifically to provide transport under a written contract to 
a company or person, or by the type of clients who for security or personal 
safety reasons would not want the vehicle to be identifiable.

Page 79



40

d) Applications may only be made by a holder of a private hire vehicle licence 
issued by Cheltenham Borough Council. 

Application procedure

The applicant must attend the Municipal Offices in person to make the application. To 
complete an application an applicant must: 

a) Submit a completed Private Hire plate exemption form;
b) Provide documentary evidence in support of the application showing that the 

vehicle carries out ‘executive work;
c) Pay the appropriate application fee.

Officers will assess each application on its own individual merit.

Where an application is granted an exemption notice will issued as soon as practical 
after the decision is made. Where a vehicle is exempted from the requirement to 
display an external identification plate the vehicle will also be exempted from the 
need to display the window badge, advance booking stickers, no smoking stickers 
and the private hire operator’s logo and contact details.  The licence plate must be 
kept in the boot of the vehicle at all times. 

Irrespective of when an exemption notice is granted the initial exemption notice will 
expire on the same day as the expiration of the vehicle’s current private hire licence, 
unless it is otherwise surrendered or revoked.  Thereafter any renewed exemption 
notice will last for a period of time that is coterminous with that vehicle’s private hire 
licence unless either the licence or notice is otherwise surrendered or revoked.

Conditions 

In addition to standard conditions applicable to licensed vehicles (Appendix B), the 
following apply to all vehicles granted an exemption:

a) Any vehicle granted an exemption from displaying an external identification 
plate will be required to keep the identification plate inside the boot of the 
vehicle at all times. 

b) In the event of loss or damage rendering such plate or notice unserviceable 
the proprietor shall make immediate application for a replacement for which a 
fee is payable.

c) The exemption notice issued by the Council will be carried in the vehicle at all 
times and will be produced upon request to an authorised officer of the 
Council or any Police Officer.

d) The proprietor will not display in, on or from the vehicle any advertisement, 
signage, logos or insignia advertising the operating company or the vehicle’s 
status as a Private Hire vehicle.

e) During the period of the exemption notice, the driver shall not be required to 
wear the Private Hire driver’s identification badge but will have it available for 
immediate inspection by an authorised officer of the Council or any Police 
Officer on request.

f) During the period of the exemption notice the driver of the vehicle whilst 
engaged on private hire work will be smartly dressed in either a formal 
chauffeur’s uniform or a business suit with collar and tie.

g) The proprietor shall notify the Council in writing immediately of any change in 
the use of the vehicle.

Page 80



41

h) During the period of the exemption notice, the proprietor shall not use the 
vehicle for Private Hire purposes other than for executive use.

i) The exemption will cease to have effect on selling or transferring the vehicle 
to another party. The person to whom the exemption is granted must inform 
the council of the sale/transfer of ownership immediately and in writing, and 
provide details of the new owner. The exemption notice must be returned to 
the Council along with the private hire vehicle identification plate unless being 
sold to another private hire operator licensed by the Council; in which case, 
only the exemption notice has to be returned.

j) A taximeter will not be installed in the vehicle.

Page 81



42

Appendix G - Intended Use Policy for the Licensing of 
Hackney Carriages

Licensing a new Hackney Carriage Vehicle

Applicants for new licences will be expected to demonstrate a bona fide intention to 
ply for hire within the borough of Cheltenham under the terms of the licence for which 
the application is being made.

There will be a presumption that applicants who do not intend to a material extent to 
ply for hire within the borough of Cheltenham will not be granted a hackney carriage 
licence authorising them to do so.  Each application will be decided on its merits.

Even where the applicant intends to ply for hire to a material extent within the 
borough of Cheltenham, if the intention is to trade in another authority’s area also for 
a substantial amount of time (and it appears that the purpose of the legislation and 
public safety will be frustrated) then, subject to the merits of the particular application, 
there will be a presumption that the application will be refused.

Renewing a Hackney Carriage Vehicle licence

Applicants for renewals of licences will be required to inform the Council whether 
they have a bona fide intention to ply for hire within the borough of Cheltenham under 
the terms of the licence for which the renewal application is being made.

There will be a presumption that applicants who do not intend to a material extent to 
ply for hire within the borough of Cheltenham will not be granted the renewal of their 
hackney carriage licence authorising them to do so. Section 60 of Local Government 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 gives the Council a broad discretion to refuse to 
renew a licence for any reasonable cause.  Each application will be decided on its 
merits.

Even where the applicant intends to ply for hire to a material extent within the 
borough of Cheltenham, if the intention is to trade in another authority’s area also for 
a substantial amount of time (and it appears that the purpose of the legislation and 
public safety will be frustrated) then, subject to the merits of the particular application, 
there will be a presumption that the renewal application will be refused.

Replacing a licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicle

Applicants  seeking  the  grant  of  a hackney  carriage  licence  for  a  vehicle 
intended  to  replace  another  licensed  vehicle  will  be  asked  to  inform  the 
Council of their intended use of the vehicle. There will be a presumption that 
applicants who no longer intend to ply for hire to a material extent within the borough 
of Cheltenham will not have the new hackney carriage licence granted. Even where 
the applicant intends to ply for hire to a material extent within the borough of 
Cheltenham, if the intention is to trade in another authority’s area also for a 
substantial amount of time (and it appears that the purpose of the legislation and 
public safety will be frustrated) then, subject to the merits of the particular case, there 
will be a presumption that the application will be refused.

Page 82



43

Transfer of ownership 

Section 49 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires 
that the proprietor of the licensed vehicle who transfers his or her interest to another 
person must, within 14 days of the transfer, give written notice to the Council of the 
name and address of the transferee of the hackney carriage. The Council  has  no  
power  to  refuse  to  register  the  new  proprietor. (R  v Weymouth Borough Council, 
ex p Teletax (Weymouth) Ltd [1947] KB 583)

Provided requisite notice has been given in accordance with section 49 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 the Council will register the 
transferee of a licensed hackney carriage as the new proprietor. This is a legal 
requirement.

Transferees of existing licences will be expected to have a bona fide intention to ply 
for hire within the borough of Cheltenham under the terms of the licence in respect of 
the vehicle being transferred.

The transferee of a licensed hackney carriage will be asked to inform the Council 
whether he has a bona fide intention to use the vehicle to ply for hire within the 
borough of Cheltenham. Transferees should  note  the  obligation  under   section  73  
of  the  Local  Government (Miscellaneous  Provisions)  Act  1976  to  give  to   an  
authorised  officer information which may reasonably be required by him for the  
purpose of carrying out his functions under the legislation. Where there is a failure to 
provide the requested information, the Council will give serious consideration to 
exercising its powers of suspension of the licence under section 60 of the 1976 Act 
until such information is forthcoming, in addition to its powers under section 73.

Where the transferee of a licensed hackney carriage is found to have no intention to 
ply for hire to a material extent within the borough of Cheltenham and/or intends to 
trade in another authority’s area also for a substantial amount of time (and it appears 
that the purpose of the legislation and public safety will be frustrated) then, subject to 
the merits of the particular case, consideration will be given (either at renewal or 
earlier) to the suspension or revocation of the licence under section 60 of the 1976 
Act. Where the transferee proposes to operate remotely from within the borough of 
Cheltenham there will be a presumption that his licence will be revoked.  Each case 
will be decided on its merits.

Revocation of licence

Where a licence has been granted under the terms that the applicant intends to ply 
for hire to a material extent within the borough of Cheltenham but is subsequently 
found not to be plying for hire to a material extent within the borough of Cheltenham 
and/or to be trading in another authority’s area for a substantial amount of time (and 
it appears that the purpose of the legislation and public safety will be frustrated) there 
will be a presumption that the licence will be revoked.

Exceptional circumstances

Each application will be decided on its merits. However the presumptions that 
intended use is to ply for hire to a material extent within the borough of Cheltenham 
will be rebuttable in exceptional circumstances. Whilst it is neither possible nor 
prudent to draw up a list of what might amount to exceptional circumstances, an 
applicant who claims that exceptional circumstances exist will be expected to be able 
to satisfy the Council  that  it  would  not  frustrate  the  purposes  of  the  legislation  

Page 83



44

or compromise public safety if the licence were granted, renewed or if were not 
suspended or revoked as the case may be.

Page 84



45

Appendix H - Private Hire Operator’s Licence Conditions
Records

The records required to be kept by the operator under s.56 (2) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 must be kept in a suitable book, 
the pages of which are numbered consecutively, or other durable recording format 
and the operator shall enter or cause to be entered therein before the 
commencement of each journey, the following particulars of every booking of a 
private hire vehicle invited or accepted by him:-

a) The time and date of the booking;
b) The name of the hirer;
c) The time of the pick-up;
d) The point of pick-up;
e) The destination;
f) The licence number of the vehicle allocated for the booking;
g) Remarks (including details of any sub-contract).

The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all vehicles operated by 
him, which particulars shall include details of the proprietors, registration numbers 
and drivers of such vehicles, together with any radio call sign used. The operator 
shall also keep records of all desk clerks employed by him/her.

Copies of all vehicle and driver licences shall be kept by the operator.

All records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than TWO 
years following the date of the last entry.

Standard of Service

The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the 
public at all reasonable times and for this purpose shall in particular:-

a) Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at 
an appointed time and place, the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented 
by sufficient cause, punctually attend at that appointed time and place;

b) Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the 
operator provides and to which the public have access, whether for the 
purpose of booking or waiting;

c) Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating 
facilities;

d) Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are 
maintained in a sound condition and that any defects are repaired promptly.

e) Ensure that all vehicles dispatched by them are maintained at all times in a 
safe and roadworthy condition. 

Complaints

The operator shall notify the Council in writing, within 7 days, of any complaints 
concerning a contract for hire or purported contract for hire relating to or arising from 
his business and of the action (if any) which the operator has taken or proposes to 
take in respect thereof.

Page 85



46

Change of Operator’s Home Address

The operator shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his/her home 
address during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking 
place.

Change of Operator’s Business Premises

If an operator wishes to change the base from which they operate they will be 
required to submit a new application. (Note: all operators’ business premises must be 
within the Borough of Cheltenham).

Convictions and Cautions

The operator shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details of any 
conviction or caution imposed on him/her (or, if the operator is a Company, of any its 
Directors) during the period of the licence.

Operator’s Licence

Operators shall operate wholly from those premises specified in the licence and 
situated within the boundaries of the Borough of Cheltenham.

The Operator shall display the Operator’s Licence issued by the Council in a 
conspicuous position at the licensed premises.

Signage

In the interests of public safety and to give confidence to the public the Operator shall 
ensure that the company logo is appended to the front nearside and offside doors of 
all vehicles operated by him/her. When an operator ceases to dispatch a vehicle, the 
operator shall ensure that the driver returns all such signage and livery to them. 

Public Liability Insurance 

Operators shall have at all times a current valid policy of public liability insurance for 
the premises they are licensed to operate from, if those premises are open to the 
public.

Appendix I - Diabetes Policy
Cheltenham Borough Council has determined that the following criteria must be met 
by all new applicants and existing holders of private hire and hackney carriage driver 
licences who have  insulin-treated or tablet-treated diabetes.

Page 86



47

All applicants and existing licence holders must declare to the Council if they are 
diagnosed with any form of diabetes.  Medical declaration forms for either insulin or 
tablet-controlled diabetes are available upon request from the Licensing department. 

Treatment of diabetes with insulin

It is a requirement that the applicant has attended an examination by a hospital 
consultant specialising in the treatment of diabetes, who has provided a report 
confirming that the applicant:

a. has a history of responsible diabetic control; 
b. currently has a minimal risk of impairment due to hypoglycaemia; 
c. has undergone treatment with insulin for at least four weeks; 
d. has full awareness of hypoglycaemia; 
e. has not, during the immediately preceding year, had an episode of severe 

hypoglycaemia; 
f. regularly monitors his or her condition and, in particular, undertakes blood 

glucose monitoring at least twice daily and at times relevant to driving, using a 
device that incorporates an electronic memory function to measure and 
record blood glucose levels, and undertakes to continue so to monitor; 

g. will continue to have annual reviews with a hospital specialist and provide 
evidence of this to the Council. 

The applicant must provide a signed declaration that he or she: 

a. understands the risk of hypoglycaemia and will comply with such directions 
regarding treatment for diabetes as may from time to time be given by the 
registered medical practitioner overseeing that treatment, or one of the clinical 
team working under the supervision of that registered medical practitioner; 

b. regularly monitors his or her condition and, in particular, undertakes blood 
glucose monitoring at least twice daily and at times relevant to driving, using a 
device that incorporates an electronic memory function to measure and 
record blood glucose levels, and undertakes to continue so to monitor; 

c. will immediately report to the Council in writing any significant change in his or 
her condition and will follow the advice of his or her registered medical 
practitioner, or one of the clinical team working under the supervision of that 
registered medical practitioner, concerning fitness to drive. 

Treatment of diabetes with medication other than insulin

Sulphonylureas, including the 
following: 
Chlorpropamide, Glibenclamide, Gliclazide, 
Glimepiride 
Glipizide, Glibense, Tolbutamide 

Glinides, which include the folowing 
tablets 
Nateglinide also known as Starlix 
Repaglinide also known as Prandin 

It is a requirement that the applicant has attended an examination by a 
registered medical practitioner, who has provided a report confirming that the 
applicant:

a. has a history of responsible diabetic control and currently has a minimal risk 
of impairment due to hypoglycaemia. 

b. has full awareness of hypoglycaemia; 

Page 87



48

c. has not, during the period of one year immediately preceding the date when 
the licence is granted, had an episode of severe hypoglycaemia; and 

d. regularly monitors his or her condition and, in particular, undertakes blood 
glucose monitoring at least twice daily and at times relevant to driving.

The Council may request evidence of any of the above. 

Provides a signed declaration that he or she: 

a. understands the risk of hypoglycaemia and will comply with such directions 
regarding treatment for diabetes as may from time to time be given by the 
registered medical practitioner overseeing that treatment, or one of the clinical 
team working under the supervision of that registered medical practitioner; 

b. will immediately report to the Council in writing any significant change in his or 
her condition and will follow the advice of his or her registered medical 
practitioner, or one of the clinical team working under the supervision of that 
registered medical practitioner, concerning fitness to drive. 

Page 88



49

Appendix J - Relevance of Convictions, Cautions and 
Fixed Penalty Notices in Relation to the Licensing of 

Drivers and Operators 
Including the consideration of the grant, suspension or revocation of hackney 

carriage and private hire driver’s and operator’s licences

The licensing authority must be satisfied that all those who are licensed to drive 
hackney carriages and / or private hire vehicles, and those who are licensed to 
operate under a private hire operator’s licence, are fit and proper persons. This 
general policy relates to the Council’s assessment of the suitability of an applicant to 
be licensed, in terms of their criminal and driving records. Specifically, it is to be 
applied where an applicant for a driver or operator’s licence has received a relevant 
conviction, caution or fixed penalty. 

Additionally, it will be referred to where a relevant conviction, caution or fixed penalty 
has been received during the period of a driver or operator’s licence and used to help 
inform any decision as to the licence-holder’s continuing fitness to hold a licence.

These guidelines shall apply to all new applicants for, and all existing holders of, 
hackney carriage / private hire drivers licences and private hire operators licences. 

General Policy

Each case will be decided on its own merits. Although an applicant may have 
convictions that would fall under the guidelines in this policy, the Council will always 
consider the full facts of the case and any mitigating or other circumstances before 
reaching a decision. 

The overriding consideration is the safety of the public. The Council has a duty to 
ensure so far as possible that those licensed to drive hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles are suitable persons to do so, that they are safe drivers with good 
driving records and adequate experience, sober, courteous, mentally and physically 
fit, honest and not persons who would take advantage of their employment.

Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are listed occupations under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. This means that an applicant must disclose 
ALL convictions when applying for the grant of a licence. The Council may take into 
account anything they consider relevant to the determination of the application.

When the relevant required informaiton has been returned, the application will be 
considered in the light of the information provided. The information will be used to 
ascertain whether the information given on the original application form was correctly 
and truthfully provided. It is therefore necessary to ensure that details of ALL 
convictions and cautions are provided at the initial stage. 

A serious view will be taken of any application which seeks to conceal any caution or 
conviction in order to obtain a Licence. This is a criminal offence and, as such, may 
lead, not only to consideration of the applicant as not being a “fit and proper person”, 
but criminal proceedings.

In the event that there are no relevant convictions, cautions or fixed penalties held, 
the applicant will be considered to be a “fit and proper person” and the matter will be 

Page 89



50

determined by the issue of the licence [subject to the successful completion of all 
other assessments].

Applications where convictions, cautions or fixed penalties are held will be 
considered by a Licensing Officer who, having regard to this policy may refer the 
application to a Licensing Committee for determination.  This will result in either the 
determination of the applicant as a “fit and proper person”, indicated by the issue of a 
licence, or the application being refused. In these circumstances, the applicant has 
the right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court, such appeal to be lodged within 21 days 
of the decision being notified.

The Council will only consider spent convictions if it appears to be relevant for 
deciding whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence and that 
justice cannot be done in the case, except by admitting or requiring evidence relating 
to that spent conviction.

For the purpose of these guidelines formal cautions and endorsable fixed penalties 
shall be treated as though they were convictions.

Fit and Proper Person

There is no absolute definition as to what constitutes a “fit and proper person”. 
However, considering the range of passengers that a driver may carry, for example, 
elderly people, unaccompanied children, people with disabilities, those who have had 
too much to drink, lone women and foreign visitors, the Council will want to have 
confidence that such people would be able to rely on the driver.

Some important areas that will be considered by the Council are:

a) Honesty and trustworthiness – licensed drivers and operators often have 
knowledge that a customer is leaving a house empty; they have opportunities 
to defraud drunken, vulnerable or foreign people or to steal property left in 
cars. For example, any passenger would expect to be charged the correct 
fare for a journey and then given the correct change, they would also expect a 
driver to hand in any article left by a passenger in a vehicle, and also to 
maintain confidentiality between driver and fare.

b) Courtesy - taxi drivers are often subject to unpleasant or dishonest behaviour.  
The Council does not consider that this excuses any aggressive or abusive 
conduct on the part of the driver. A driver will not be expected to have any 
convictions or cautions for offences of a violent or threatening nature.

c) Consistently good and safe driving - those paying for a transport service rely 
on their driver to get them to their destination safely.  They are professional 
drivers and should be fully aware of all Road Traffic legislation and conditions 
attached to the licence.

d) Good knowledge of the area that they are working in.

e) Good physical and mental health.

f) Ability to read, speak and understand English, together with a working 
knowledge of arithmetic in giving the correct change, etc.

Page 90



51

Outstanding Charges or Summonses

New applicants

If the individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their application
should be suspended until the matter is resolved.

Existing Licence Holders

If an existing licence holder is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons, 
consideration will be given whether to suspend or revoke their licence until the matter 
is resolved.  Consideration will be given to the:

 Seriousness and relevance of the offence;
 When the alleged offence(s) were committed;
 Compliance and complaints history of the licence holder;
 Circumstances of the individual concerned;
 Any other relevant matters.

Non-conviction information

The Council will also take into account situations and circumstances that have not led 
to a conviction. This will include acquittals, circumstances in which convictions were 
quashed due to misdirection to the jury, circumstances where the decision was taken 
not to prosecute, situations where the person has been arrested and bailed but not 
yet charged, and complaints from the public. In considering the most appropriate 
action to take in relation to non-conviction information (or a complaint), the credibility 
of both the witness / complainant and the licence holder will be taken into account.

If an applicant has been arrested or charged, but not convicted, for a serious offence 
which suggests he could be a danger to the public, consideration should be given to 
refusing the application or, in the case of an existing licence holder, a suspension or 
revocation of their licence. Such offences would include violent and / or sexual 
offences.

In assessing the action to take, the safety of the travelling public must be the 
paramount concern.

1. Offences of Dishonesty

New applicants

1.1 Drivers of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles are expected to be 
persons of trust. It is comparatively easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the 
public by demanding more than the legal fare and in other ways.

1.2 Passengers may include especially vulnerable people. 

1.3 Members of the public entrust themselves to the care of drivers both for their 
own safety and for fair dealing. In certain situations drivers will know that a 
property is empty whilst the occupants are away on holiday for a set period of 
time after taking them to the airport or railway station. 

1.4 The widespread practice of delivering unaccompanied property is indicative of 
the trust that businesses put into drivers.

Page 91



52

1.5 For these reasons a serious view is taken of any convictions involving 
dishonesty. In general an applicant with convictions for dishonesty, as listed 
below, which are less than 4 years old, is unlikely to be granted a licence:

a. Theft
b. Burglary
c. Fraud
d. Benefit fraud
e. Handling or receiving stolen goods
f. Forgery
g. Conspiracy to defraud
h. Obtaining money or property by deception
i. Other deception

Existing Licence Holders

1.6 An existing licence holder who is convicted of one or more of the above 
offences, is likely to have their licence revoked.

2. Violence

New applicants

2.1 Drivers of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle are often entrusted with the 
care of vulnerable persons. 

2.2 It is comparatively easy for an unscrupulous driver to take advantage of such 
vulnerable persons. 

2.3 The Council seeks to minimise risks associated with children and young 
persons and for that reason a more serious view will be taken where offences 
of violence involve children or young persons.

2.4 Where the commission of an offence involved loss of life a licence will normally 
be refused. 

2.5 In particular an application will normally be refused where the applicant has a 
conviction for violence such as those listed below, or similar offence(s):

a. Murder 
b. Manslaughter 
c. Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 
d. Terrorism offences
e. Any offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit offences) that 

are similar to those above.

2.6 In general an applicant with convictions for violence, as listed below (or similar 
offences), which are less than 10 years old, is unlikely to be granted a licence.

a. Arson 
b. Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm 
c. Actual bodily harm 
d. Grievous bodily harm with intent 
e. Robbery 

Page 92



53

f. Possession of firearm 
g. Riot 
h. Assault Police 
i. Racially aggravated common assault 
j. Violent disorder 
k. Resisting arrest 

 
2.7 In general an applicant with convictions for violence, as listed below (or similar 

offences), which are less than 8 years old, is unlikely to be granted a licence:

a. Any Public Order Act offence (harassment, alarm or distress, intentional
harassment or fear of provocation of violence)

b. Any racially-aggravated offence against a person or property.
c. Any offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit offences) that 

are similar to those above.

2.8 In general an applicant with convictions for violence, as listed below (or similar 
offences), which are less than 5 years old, is unlikely to be granted a licence:

a. Common assault 
b. Affray 
c. Obstruction 
d. Possession of offensive weapon 
e. Criminal damage 

 
Existing Licence Holders

2.9 An existing licence holder who is convicted of one or more of the below 
offences, is likely to have his or her licence revoked. 

a. Murder
b. Manslaughter
c. Causing death by reckless, dangerous or careless driving
d. Grievous bodily harm 
e. Robbery
f. Any Public Order Act offence (harassment, alarm or distress, intentional 

harassment or fear of provocation of violence)
g. Any racially-aggravated offence against a person or property.
h. Any offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit offences) 

that are similar to those above.
i. Common assault
j. Common assault which is racially-aggravated
k. Assault occasioning actual bodily harm
l. Assault on the police
m. Affray
n. Riot
o. Obstruction
p. Possession of offensive weapon
q. Possession of firearm
r. Criminal damage
s. Violent disorder
t. Resisting arrest

3. Drugs

Page 93



54

New applicants

3.1 If any applicant has previous convictions related to drugs and was an addict at 
the time of the offences, they will normally be required to show evidence of 5 
years free from drug taking after detoxification treatment before a licence will be 
granted.  If detoxification treatment was not undertaken the applicant will need 
to provide other medical evidence to demonstrate that they are no longer 
dependant on drugs.

Supply of drugs 

3.2 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for 
an offence related to the supply of drugs

Possession of drugs

3.3 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has more than one 
conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and the convictions 
are less than 10 years prior to the date of the application.

3.4 An application from an applicant who has an isolated conviction for an offence 
related to the possession of drugs within the last 5 years will require careful 
consideration of the facts.

Existing Licence Holders

3.5 An existing licence holder found guilty of driving whilst under the influence of 
drugs, or convicted of any other drug-related offence should expect to have 
their licence revoked immediately.

3.6 At least 5 years should elapse from conviction before a new application by that 
person will be considered and a specialist medical examination will be required 
with negative urine screen for drugs or abuse (if applicable).

4. Sexual/Indecency Offences

New applicants

4.1 As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, the 
council will take a strong line in relation to applicants or existing licence holders 
with convictions for sexual offences. All sexual and indecency offences should 
be considered as serious. Applicants with convictions for sexual or indecency 
offences that involve a third party will be refused a licence. Such offences 
include:

a. Rape
b. Assault by penetration
c. Offences involving children or vulnerable adults
d. Trafficking, sexual abuse against children and / or vulnerable adults and 

preparatory offences (as defined within the Sexual Offences Act 2003).
e. Making or distributing obscene material
f. Possession of indecent photographs depicting child pornography.
g. Sexual assault

Page 94



55

h. Indecent assault
i. Exploitation of prostitution
j. Soliciting (kerb crawling)
k. Making obscene / indecent telephone calls
l. Indecent exposure
m. Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 

which replace the above

In addition to the above the council will not grant a licence to any applicant who is
currently on the Sex Offenders Register or any other similar register.

Existing Licence Holders

4.2 Any existing licence holder charged with, convicted or issued with a formal 
caution for any of the offences mentioned above should expect to have their 
licence revoked immediately.

5. Drunkenness

New applicants 

5.1 If any applicant has previous convictions related to drunkenness and was an 
alcoholic at the time of the offences, then they will normally be required to 
show evidence that 5 years has elapsed after completion of detoxification 
treatment. If detoxification treatment was not undertaken the applicant will 
need to provide other medical evidence to demonstrate that they are no 
longer dependant on alcohol.

With a motor vehicle (no disqualification) 

5.2 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a 
vehicle while under the influence of alcohol. 

5.3 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for 
such an offence, which did not result in a driving disqualification, within 2 years of 
the date of the application. 

5.2 More than one conviction for this type of offence within the last 5 years of the 
date of conviction, is likely to result in refusal.

With a motor vehicle (disqualification)

5.3 Where a disqualification has occurred as a result of a drink-driving offence, at 
least 5 years free from conviction should normally elapse from the date of the 
restoration of the DVLA licence before an applicant is considered for a licence.

Not with a motor vehicle 

5.4 An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not exclude an applicant from 
gaining a licence. In some cases, a warning may be appropriate.

5.5 More than one conviction for drunkenness could indicate a medical problem 
necessitating critical examination and refusal of a licence.  

Existing Licence Holders

Page 95



56

With a motor vehicle

5.6 Any existing licence holder found guilty of driving passengers for hire and 
reward whilst under the influence of drink or of refusing to provide a specimen 
of breath or blood for analysis should expect to have their licence revoked 
immediately. A new application will not normally be considered until a period of 
5 years has elapsed after the restoration of the driving licence following a drink 
drive conviction.

5.7 A licensed driver found guilty of offences relating to drink driving, but not when 
driving for hire or reward should expect to have their licence revoked 
immediately.  A new application will not normally be considered until a period of 
2 years has elapsed after the restoration of the driving licence following a drink 
drive conviction. 

Existing Licence Holders

Not with a motor vehicle

5.8 An isolated  conviction for drunkenness  not  associated  with  a  motor  vehicle  
by  a licensed driver will not necessarily result in any action being taken.  An 
existing licence holder who committed one of  these offences will have their 
licence reviewed by the Licensing Committee who may:-

a. Take no further action
b. Issue a written warning
c. Suspend the Licence
d. Revoke the licence 
e. Refuse to renew the licence (if such an application is being considered)

5.12 More than one conviction for drunkenness could indicate a medical problem 
necessitating critical examination and revocation or suspension of a licence.

5.13 Where there has been more than one conviction for drunkenss, the Council 
may require a medical report prior to determining any review of an existing 
licence. 

6. Motoring Convictions

New applicants

Major Traffic Offences (see annex A for list of offences)

6.1 An isolated conviction, without disqualification, for an offence such as 
dangerous driving or driving without due care and attention, will require careful 
consideration of the facts and will at the very least merit a warning as to future 
driving and advice on the standard expected of hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicle drivers. However, where the conviction is within 1 year prior to the 
date of the application the application will normally be refused.

6.2 More than one conviction for this type of offence within the last 5 years is likely 
to merit refusal.

Minor Traffic Offences (see annex A for list of offences)

Page 96



57

6.3 Isolated convictions for minor traffic offences should not prevent a person from 
proceeding with an application. However, the number, type and frequency of 
this type of offence will be taken into account and if there are several offences 
of this nature the applicant will normally be expected to show a period free of 
conviction of at least 6 months.

6.4 In particular, an application will normally be refused where the applicant has 
received 12 or more penalty points on his DVLA licence in the five years prior to 
the application being made (whether or not the applicant was convicted by a 
court for the offences for which the points were imposed) or where the applicant 
has more than one conviction for this type of offence within the last 6 months.

Hybrid Traffic Offences (see annex A for list of offences)

6.5 Hybrid offences will be treated as major traffic offences if the court awarded 4 
or more penalty points for the offence and as minor traffic offences if the court 
awarded 3 or fewer penalty points for the offence.

Disqualification

6.6 Where an applicant has been disqualified from driving because of a major traffic 
offence the application will generally be refused unless a period of 2 years free 
from conviction has elapsed from the restoration of the DVLA licence.

6.7 Where several minor traffic offences have resulted in the applicant being 
disqualified from driving for a period of time this will normally be taken as 
reflecting seriously on the applicant's driving standard. Generally, a period of 2 
years free from conviction must have elapsed from the restoration of the DVLA 
licence.

6.8 In "totting-up" cases where disqualification is considered by the court, even if 
the court does not disqualify (e.g. because of exceptional circumstances) a 
driver, the Council is likely to refuse a hackney carriage or private hire driver's 
licence because different criteria apply. An applicant will normally be expected 
to show a period of 12 months free from conviction from the date the court 
made its finding of exceptional circumstances justifying the non-disqualification.

Existing Licence Holders

6.9 Private hire and hackney carriage drivers are professional drivers and must be 
aware of the safety of their passengers and the safety of their vehicles at all 
times. Any traffic offences could show a lack of responsibility whilst driving 
either due to the maintenance and safety of their vehicles or in the manner of 
their driving.

6.10 Convictions for traffic offences may not automatically prevent a person from
proceeding with a renewal of their licence, or from keeping their licence.  

6.11 An existing licence holder who has 7 penalty points or more on his or her 
driving licence due to multiple offences, or 6 penalty points or more for one 
isolated offence, will be required to appear before the Licensing Committee to 
explain their convictions.  The Committee then have the option to:

a. Take no further action

Page 97



58

b. Give a written warning
c. Require the driver to pass a DSA private hire/hackney drivers test, at the 

driver’s own expense, within 2 months of their decision
d. Suspend the Licence upon conditions or for a period of time
e. Revoke the licence.
f. Refuse to renew the licence (if such an application is being considered)

7. Offences under the Town Police Clauses Acts and Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

New applicants

7.1 One of the main purposes of the licensing regime set out in the Town Police 
Clauses Acts and Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 ("the Acts") is to ensure the protection of the public. For this reason a 
serious view is taken of convictions for offences under the Acts (including 
illegally plying for hire) when deciding whether an applicant is to be treated as a 
fit and proper person to hold a licence.

7.2 In particular, an applicant will normally be refused a licence where (s)he has 
been convicted of an offence under the Acts at any time during the 6 months 
preceding the application or has more than one conviction within the last 2 
years preceding the date of the application.

Existing Licence Holders

7.3 Where an existing licence holder is convicted of an offence under, or has failed 
to comply with, the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 or Part II of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, a application for 
review of their licence will normally be referred to a Licensing Committee who 
will consider whether to take any steps in relation to the licence.

7.4 The Committee will then have regard to all the circumstances including:-

a. The seriousness of the offence (including the sentence imposed)
b. Whether the offence was committed whilst acting as a hackney carriage or 

private hire driver
c. Any previous convictions, cautions or fixed penalties received
d. The licence holder’s previous compliance record
e. Evidence of previous good character
f. Any mitigating factors involved in the commission of the offence

7.5 The Committee will then take such of the following steps as they feel are 
necessary, reasonable and proportionate, having regard to the need to protect 
the public and ensure that licences are only held by fit and proper persons:-

a. Take no further action
b. Issue a written warning
c. Suspend the Licence
d. Revoke the licence
e. Refuse to renew the licence (if such an application is being considered)

ANNEX A

MAJOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES

Page 98



59

AC10 Failing to stop after an accident
AC20 Failing to give particulars or report an accident within 24 hours
AC30 Undefined accident offences
BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of court
BA20 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of court
CD10 Driving without due care and attention
CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users
CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable consideration for 
other road users
CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink
CD50 Causing death by careless driving when unfit through drugs
CD60 Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit
CD70 Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for 
alcohol analysis
CD80   Causing death by careless, or inconsiderate, driving
CD90   Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers
DD10  Causing serious injury by dangerous driving
DD40 Dangerous driving
DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle
DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving
DD90  Furious driving
DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit
DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink
DR30 Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for analysis
DR31 Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to give permission for analysis of a 
blood sample that was taken without consent due to incapacity
DR61   Refusing to give permission for analysis of a blood sample that was taken 
without consent due to incapacity in circumstances other than driving or attempting to 
drive
DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit
DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink
DR60 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than driving 
or attempting to drive
DR70 Failing to provide specimen for breath test
DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs
DR90 In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs
IN 10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks
LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence
LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for a 
licence
LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability
LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds
MS50 Motor racing on the highway
MS60 Offences not covered by other codes (including offences relating to breach of 
requirements as to control of vehicle)
MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight
MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test
MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver etc
UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring offences as coded above, but with 0 
changed to 2 (e.g. IN10 becomes IN12)

Page 99



60

Causing or permitting offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. IN10 
becomes IN14)

Inciting offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. IN16 becomes IN16)

MINOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES

MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position
MS20 Unlawful pillion riding
MS30 Play street Offences
MW10 Contravention of special roads regulations (excluding speed limits)
PC10 Undefined contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations
PC20 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with moving vehicle
PC30 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with stationary vehicle
TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals
TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines
TS30 Failing to comply with a "Stop" sign
TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable/warden
TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding ‘stop’ signs, traffic lights or 
double white lines)
TS60 Failing to comply with school crossing patrol sign
TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring offences as coded above, but with 0 
changed to 2 (e.g. PC10 becomes PC12)

Causing or permitting offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. PC10 
becomes PC14)

Inciting offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. PC16 becomes 
PC16)

HYBRID TRAFFIC OFFENCES

CU10 Using a vehicle with defective brakes
CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle or 
using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) in a 
dangerous condition
CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s)
CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering
CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers
CU80 Breach of requirements as to control of the vehicle, mobile telephone etc
SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limit
SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger 
vehicles)
SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road
SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit
SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring offences as coded above, but with 0 
changed to 2 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU12)

Causing or permitting offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. CU10 
becomes CU14)

Page 100



61

Inciting offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. CU10 becomes 
CU16)

Page 101



62

Appendix K – Three Strikes Policy

1. The Council operates a policy for dealing with complaints, allegations and 
witnessed incidents of misconduct or infractions of a type which is not 
considered sufficiently serious in itself to justify a review of a person’s suitability 
to hold a taxi or private hire driver, vehicle or operator licence, but which may 
give rise to such concerns if repeated or if regarded cumulatively with other 
such incidents.

2. Where complaints are substantiated for an applicable infraction, the council 
may consider issuing a formal written warning, particularly if it would be 
disproportionate or inappropriate to take formal legal action for the infraction. 
Such warnings shall be issued only in situations where the investigating officer 
(or a reviewing officer) is satisfied that the infraction was committed, such as if 
they personally observed the infraction being committed, or if the results of the 
investigation into a complaint lead them to conclude on the balance of 
probabilities that the infraction was committed.

3. If a driver, operator or vehicle proprietor should receive three warnings for any 
combination of applicable infractions within a rolling period of two years, they 
shall be referred to the Council’s Licensing Sub-Committee, for a review 
hearing into that individual’s suitability to continue to hold the relevant licence.

4. In conducting such reviews, the Sub-Committee will take account of all of the 
pertinent facts, and of any representation made by the driver, operator or 
proprietor before considering what action, if any, would be appropriate to take. 
The Sub-Committee may also have regard to any previous warnings or 
Committee determinations in reaching a decision. The options available to the 
Sub-Committee, depending upon the severity of the infractions and any 
previous record of misconduct, will typically be: to take no further action; to 
warn the licensee as to their future conduct; to suspend the licence for a 
specified period, or until such time as certain conditions have been satisfied; or 
to revoke the licence.

5. The existence of this guidance does not bind the Council, its officers or 
members to reach a particular decision in every case, and if the circumstances 
of a particular case support doing so it shall be open to the Council to select a 
different course of action in respect of that case, such as prosecution for a 
single infraction of a type listed below, or issuing an informal warning which 
does not count towards the cumulative total.

6. The following lists of applicable infractions are non-exhaustive, and similar 
infractions may be regarded in the same way, even if not specifically referred to 
below.

Applicable infractions – operators
• Failing to declare convictions / cautions in a timely manner
• Failing to produce operator licence on request
• Failing to maintain operators records complying with licence conditions, or 

to produce on request
• Touting of hire car services
• Abusive/improper behaviour by operator or staff
• Use of unapproved door signs on vehicles
• Obstruction of authorised officer or constable

Page 102



63

• Making false statement to authorised officer or constable
• Making a false statement in connection with a licence or application

Applicable infractions – drivers / vehicle proprietors

• Failing to declare convictions / cautions / motoring endorsements in a 
timely manner

• Failing to report accident
• Failing to produce vehicle/driver licence on request
• Failing to wear driver badge
• Failing to produce vehicle insurance certificate on request
• Failing to return licence plate / badge (following expiry, suspension or 

revocation)
• Using vehicle which is mechanically unsound / unsafe / excessively soiled
• Using vehicle at a time when it would not satisfy compliance standards
• Charging more than metered fare / use of incorrect tariff / previously 

agreed fare
• Non-display of fare card
• Prolonging journeys
• Tampering with taximeter seal, altering taximeter with intent to mislead
• Meter, radio or other equipment installed in dangerous position
• Non-display / incorrect display of licence plates
• Non-display of roof sign / door signs
• Display of roof/taxi sign on vehicle other than a hackney carriage
• Failure to carry first aid kit / fire extinguisher in vehicle
• Abusive/improper behaviour
• Driver improperly attired
• Touting
• Misuse of taxi ranks (obstructing or hindering other driver, preventing 

hiring)
• Hackney carriage driver refusing fare from taxi rank
• Private hire vehicle stopping on taxi rank
• Leaving hackney carriage unattended on a taxi rank
• Failing to deliver lost property to police station
• Obstruction of authorised officer or constable
• Making false statement to authorised officer or constable
• Making a false statement in connection with a licence or application

Police infractions
In addition to work undertaken by Cheltenham Borough Council officers, 
Gloucestershire Constabulary officers may issue warnings which will have the same 
effect under this policy, for any of the above infractions, or for the following general 
violations:

• Minor offences under Road Traffic Acts in respect of a hackney carriage 
or private hire vehicle

• Minor offences under the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations in respect of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle

• Minor public order offences in the course of use of a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle

In all cases, issue of a warning under this scheme by a police officer shall represent 
an alternative disposal option, and police shall retain the right to instead utilise any 

Page 103



64

other disposal method (e.g. fixed penalty notice or legal proceedings) for any 
applicable offence where deemed appropriate.

More serious offences
The following offences are deemed sufficiently serious that they will be excluded from 
this scheme, with prosecution or committee referral likely to result from a single 
incident:

• Plying for hire without HCV licence (or driving or standing for hire)
• Using an unlicensed vehicle for private hire
• Driving a licensed vehicle without a valid HC/PH driver’s licence
• Employing an unlicensed driver to drive a licensed vehicle
• Operating unlicensed vehicles, or operating vehicles without an operator’s 

licence
• Refusing to accept booking to carry disabled passenger, or passenger 

with assistance dog
• Injuring or endangering any person or property through wanton and 

furious driving or other wilful misconduct
• Carrying excessive number of passengers

Page 104



65

Appendix L - Code of Good Practice for Licensed Drivers’ 
Working Practices

About this Code

Licensed taxi and private hire drivers are exempt from the requirements set out by 
the EU Working Time Directive. As a consequence, there is no statutory national 
standard for acceptable and safe working hours for licensed drivers.

Excessive working hours can cause fatigue which can place the health and 
safety of drivers, passengers and other road users at risk.

This code is a guide for licensed operators, vehicle proprietors and licensed 
drivers alike, to make sure that everyone understands what fatigue is, how it can 
affect the safety of drivers and their passengers and what the council’s 
expectations are for safe working practices in the trade.

It sets out a number of minimum standards regarding fatigue management and hours 
of work. In the absence of any specific legislation, these serve as benchmarks 
against which the council will measure the fitness and suitability of drivers and 
operators.

Recommended hours of work

The UK Government recommends the following safe working time for passenger-
carrying vehicles and drivers:

Obligation on licensed drivers

• You must not work more than 16 hours between the times of starting and 
finishing work including non-driving work and any times when you’re 
off (rest breaks).

• After 5 hours 30 minutes of driving you must take a break of at least 30 
minutes for rest and refreshment.

• You must take a rest of 10 hours before the first duty and immediately after 
the last duty in a working week.

• You must take a rest of at least 10 hours between 2 working days
• All duties must start and finish within a 24-hour period.
• Every 2 weeks you must take at least one period of 24 hours off duty
• Hackney Carriage drivers should keep a record of their hours of work through 

whatever practical means and present this to authorised council officers on 
request within a reasonable timescale. The council will not prescribe the format 
but expects as a minimum the records to include dates and working times for 
that date.

Obligations on licensed operators

Page 105



66

• Operators shall, as far as is reasonably practical, have procedures in place 
to ensure that all licensed drivers do not work in excess of the maximum 
hours outlined in the recommended hours of work.

• Operators shall, as far as is reasonably practicable, have plans in place to 
ensure that all their drivers are fit to work at the start of their shift (ie. they 
are not fatigued).

• Operators shall on request provide authorised council officers records of 
private hire working hours as recorded on the dispatch system.

Indicators of fatigue

• Not feeling refreshed after sleep
• Falling asleep at work
• Loss of concentration at work, leading to increased errors or lack of 

awareness of danger (eg. drifting out of lane when driving)
• Poor visual perception - even hallucinations - in poor light/weather conditions
• The need for extended sleep during days off
• The need for frequent naps in leisure time

Ways to avoid fatigue

• Ensure you take plenty of rest breaks
• Avoid extended reliance on artificial aids such as loud radios, bright 

lights or “blowy” air-conditioners
• Don't rely on the prolonged use of stimulants such as caffeine drinks or drugs.
• If you feel sleepy, stop work and take a 20-minute “power nap”. If this 

does not work then go home and get some proper rest
• If you “nodded off" in your vehicle for any length of time, stop work 

immediately and get some rest
• When switching from day to night shifts (or vice-versa) take a 24-hour break 

in between
• Get 7.5 hours quality sleep every 24 hours

Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	5 Review of taxi and private hire licensing policy
	2018_03_06_CAB_Review_Taxi_Private_Hire_Policy_Appendix_2
	2018_03_06_CAB_Review_Taxi_Private_Hire_Policy_Appendix_3
	2018_03_06_CAB_Review_Taxi_Private_Hire_Policy_App4(1)
	2018_03_06_CAB_Review_Taxi_Private_Hire_Policy_App4(2)


